Public Document Pack
Agenda for consultative meeting of the
Strategic Planning Committee
Tuesday, 7th September, 2021, 2.00 pm
Members of Strategic Planning Committee
Councillors

D Ledger (Chair), O Davey (Vice-Chair),
M Allen, P Arnott, J Bailey, K Blakey,
J Bonetta, S Chamberlain, P Hayward,
M Howe, B Ingham, A Moulding, G Pratt,
E Rylance and P Skinner

East Devon District Council
Blackdown House
Border Road
Heathpark Industrial Estate
Honiton
EX14 1EJ
DX 48808 HONITON
Tel: 01404 515616

Venue:

Online via the zoom app

Contact:

Wendy Harris 01395 517542;
email wharris@eastdevon.gov.uk

www.eastdevon.gov.uk

(or group number 01395 517546)
Issued: Wednesday, 25 August 2021
Important - this meeting will be conducted online and recorded by Zoom only.
Please do not attend Blackdown House.
Members are asked to follow the Protocol for Remote Meetings
This meeting is being recorded by EDDC for subsequent publication on the Council’s
website and will be streamed live to the Council’s Youtube Channel at
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCmNHQruge3LVI4hcgRnbwBw
Public speakers are now required to register to speak – for more information please use
the following link: https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/have-your-say-atmeetings/all-other-public-meetings/#article-content
Between 27th July 2021 to 17th January 2022, the Council has delegated much of the
decision making to officers. Any officer decisions arising from recommendations from a
consultative meeting can be found here –
Senior Officer Decision notices - East Devon.
1

Public speaking
Information on public speaking is available online

2

Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 12)

3

Apologies

4

Declarations of interest
Guidance is available online to Councillors and co-opted members on making
declarations of interest

5

Matters of urgency

Mark Williams, Chief Executive

page 1

Information on matters of urgency is available online
6

Confidential/exempt item(s)
To agree any items to be dealt with after the public (including the Press) have
been excluded. There are no items which officers recommend should be dealt
with in this way.

7

Working towards a draft Local Plan for approval for consultation in March 2022
(Pages 13 - 22)
This report seeks to give greater clarity to the recommended approach for Local
Plan production that would see a working draft Local Plan coming to Strategic
Planning Committee in December 2021.

8

HELAA Panel constitution and role (Pages 23 - 37)
This report sets out the composition of the panel and the role they play in the
formulation of the HELAA

9

The emerging new Local Plan and the relationship with Neighbourhood Plans update (Pages 38 - 60)
This report relates to progress in researching the content of Neighbourhood
Plans and a proposed Communications Plan to be used to manage consultation
and engagement with Neighbourhood Planning communities.

10

Town Centres - Strategic Approach (Pages 61 - 74)
This report seeks Members consideration as to whether and how planning policy
might intervene to reduce further losses in the retail sector and to consider the
wider role of town centres and whether more flexibility is required to enable a
wider range of activities.

11

Biodiversity policy approaches and biodiversity net gain (Pages 75 - 82)
This report provides some background as to what approaches we may want to
take in the Local Plan in achieving this aim.

12

Landscape Protection - Strategic Approach (Pages 83 - 111)
As part of the Local Plan review it is appropriate to review the locally designated
protective landscape policies in light of the national planning policy (NPPF) and
to consider whether the designations and the areas to which they apply continue
to be appropriate.

Decision making and equalities

For a copy of this agenda in large print, please contact the Democratic
Services Team on 01395 517546

page 2

Agenda Item 2

EAST DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL

Minutes of the meeting of Strategic Planning Committee held at Council
Chamber, Blackdown House and online via the zoom app on 20 July 2021
Attendance list at end of document
The meeting started at 2.01 pm and ended at 4.30 pm

14

Public speaking
There were no members of the public present.

15

Minutes of the previous meeting
The minutes of the Strategic Planning Committee held on 22 June 2021 were confirmed
as a true record.
A question was raised by Councillor Bailey about the HELAA panel and sought
clarification on when to expect the report as detailed in the minutes. In response the
Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management advised a report would
come before Members at the next meeting on 7 September.

16

Declarations of interest
Minute 19. Cranbrook Local Infrastructure Fund.
Councillor Eleanor Rylance, Personal, Broadclyst Parish Councillor.
Minute 19. Cranbrook Local Infrastructure Fund.
Councillor Kevin Blakey, Personal, Cranbrook Town Councillor and a member of the
Cranbrook Strategic Delivery Board.
Minute 19. Cranbrook Local Infrastructure Fund.
Councillor Paul Hayward, Personal, Daughters live in Cranbrook and may benefit from
the Cranbrook Local Infrastructure Fund.
Minute 19. Cranbrook Local Infrastructure Fund.
Councillor Sarah Chamberlain, Personal, Broadclyst Parish Councillor (ward next to
Cranbrook).
Minute 20. Planning obligations securing financial contributions to health care.
Councillor Eleanor Rylance, Personal, Broadclyst Parish Councillor and a development
in my ward is named in this item.
Minute 20. Planning obligations securing financial contributions to health care.
Councillor Jess Bailey, Personal, West Hill Parish Councillor and Devon County
Councillor.
Minute 20. Planning obligations securing financial contributions to health care.
Councillor Mike Howe, Personal, Parish Councillor and Ward Member for Clyst St Mary.
Also owns a business in Clyst St Mary.
Minute 20. Planning obligations securing financial contributions to health care.
Councillor Olly Davey, Personal, Exmouth Town Councillor.
page 3

Strategic Planning Committee 20 July 2021

Minute 20. Planning obligations securing financial contributions to health care.
Councillor Paul Hayward, Pecuniary, Spouse works for the Royal Devon & Exeter NHS
Foundation Trust.
Minute 20. Planning obligations securing financial contributions to health care.
Councillor Sarah Chamberlain, Personal, Broadclyst Parish Councillor.
Minute 21. The Role and Function of Settlements - draft report.
Councillor Eleanor Rylance, Personal, Broadclyst Parish Councillor.
Minute 21. The Role and Function of Settlements - draft report.
Councillor Jess Bailey, Personal, West Hill Parish Councillor and Devon County
Councillor.
Minute 21. The Role and Function of Settlements - draft report.
Councillor Mike Howe, Personal, Parish Councillor and Ward Member for Clyst St Mary.
Also owns a business in Clyst St Mary.
Minute 21. The Role and Function of Settlements - draft report.
Councillor Olly Davey, Personal, Exmouth Town Councillor.
Minute 21. The Role and Function of Settlements - draft report.
Councillor Paul Hayward, Personal, Employed as Parish Clerk to All Saints, Chardstock
and Newton Poppleford and Harpford Parish Councils.
9. The Role and Function of Settlements - draft report.
Councillor Philip Skinner, Personal, Owns land in Talaton that is in the HELAA process.
9. The Role and Function of Settlements - draft report.
Councillor Sarah Chamberlain, Personal, Broadclyst Parish Councillor.
In response to a question raised by Councillor Skinner about the make-up of a pecuniary
interest, the Deputy Monitoring Officer advised it was for Members to consider the facts
of each interest and the item to which it applied to. She advised that failure to disclose a
pecuniary interest is a criminal offence and if Members considered something was
pecuniary it should be declared and for that Member to leave the room when the item
was discussed.

17

Matters of urgency
With the agreement of the Chair, Councillor Philip Skinner raised an urgent item about
the plethora of solar panels coming into the area and asked that relevant policies be
discussed at the next meeting.

18

Confidential/exempt item(s)
There were no items that officers recommended should be dealt with requiring exclusion
of the press and public.

19

Cranbrook Local Infrastructure Fund
page 4

Strategic Planning Committee 20 July 2021

The Committee considered the Cranbrook New Community Manager and Service Lead –
Growth, Development & Prosperity’s report seeking an in-principle agreement to borrow
up to £40m from the Public Works Loan Board to capitalise the Cranbrook Infrastructure
Fund. If approved, this would both benefit residents and help to address ongoing viability
challenges in relation to the expansion areas for Cranbrook.
The report advised that high up front infrastructure costs could potentially be a barrier to
the delivery of large scale development and the Service Lead – Growth, Development &
Prosperity reported that Cranbrook had overcome that barrier by the use of revolving
infrastructure funds to accelerate the upfront delivery of critical infrastructure with the
costs recovered on a roof tax basis. He referred to St Martin’s Primary School as an
example of infrastructure delivered through a revolving infrastructure fund enabling it to
be opened with just 30 homes occupied in Cranbrook ensuring the attractiveness of
Cranbrook to young families.
The Cranbrook New Community Manager advised that the Cranbrook Development Plan
Document was in the process of Examination in Public and was out for consultation to
the viability participants. Members’ attention was drawn to the potential of upwards of six
different developers to negotiate with to secure agreement on the delivery of
infrastructure. They have welcomed the potential cost savings of approximately £9m
from the overall development costs that could be saved in interest payments from the
£30m infrastructure fund.
The Cranbrook New Community Manager outlined the importance of the infrastructure
fund that would be required to help fund items including the first additional primary school
as well as leisure provision and potential highway upgrade works. Other items could
also be included such as additional education provision and the delivery of enhanced
public transport, depending on how the fund revolved.
Comments raised by Committee Members included:
 Concern raised about the eye watering amount of money the district council would
borrow and how little detail in the report about what the £30m was going to be
used for. Comfort and reassurance was sought on the risks and to learn what
other councils were doing. In response the Service Lead, Growth, Development &
Prosperity acknowledged the concerns raised and highlighted that £32m of
revolving infrastructure funds had gone into Cranbrook which had been secured
through legal agreements, bonds and parent company guarantees. He referred to
potential risks but said these were mitigated through the use of legal agreements
and updated Members on the upgrade of Long Lane next to Exeter Airport that
was using the forward funding of infrastructure and advised the payments for
future development was secured by bespoke legal agreements.
 It is unclear about what is happening with the town centre. In response the
Service Lead – Growth, Development and Prosperity advised he would provide a
full report on the town centre after Cabinet on 28 July.
 Clarification sought on the £10m for electricity. In response the Service Lead –
Growth, Development & Prosperity advised the Council would be looking at a
wholesale upgrade of electrical capacity that would potentially benefit all 4,000
homes in the expansion areas.
 Concern raised about the depletion of reserves.
 Clarification sought on the terms and conditions attached to the loan agreement.
 The need for a full report with appropriate evidence to justify our decisions.
 Clarification sought on how many dwellings would be required to be built to recoup
£40m.
page 5

Strategic Planning Committee 20 July 2021





















Cranbrook deserves good facilities and good infrastructure and is long overdue in
some areas.
Clarification sought on whether a decision was time critical. In response the
Service Lead – Growth, Development & Prosperity confirmed there was a critical
timing issue because of the Cranbrook DPD Examination and a need to give
assurance to the inspector that the Council was actively pursuing a route, in
principle, which could result in the cancellation of an offer of a further £9m in
infrastructure.
Clarification sought on whether the repayment of the loan would be on a per roof
basis or time limited. In response it was confirmed the loan would be on a roof tax
basis.
Clarification sought that the money borrowed would be used to benefit the people
of Cranbrook and surrounding areas.
The need to deliver a viable community.
The need to weigh up the financial risks versus the risks of making Cranbrook
viable for further development.
On behalf of Members the Chair sought clarification from the Service Lead –
Growth, Development & Prosperity on the risk securities that the council were
proposing. In response he outlined the three established ways of securing
repayment which were a financial bond, a parent company guarantee or a charge
overland.
The Council has a morale and ethical duty to the people of Cranbrook to sort this
out.
Reference was made to Recommendation 3 and the financial implications and it
was queried whether some Members understood the report. It was pointed out
that Strategic Planning Committee was not an audit and governance Committee, it
was Committee that was meant to be proactive and creative. In response the
Principal Solicitor outlined that Strategic Planning Committee would only agree in
principle the recommendations and a further decision would be made by Cabinet
and Full Council. It was advised Strategic Planning Committee did not have the
power to be the final sign off at this point.
Clarification sought about whether there was an expectation that every developer
would have to pay back £10,000 per dwelling. In response the Service Lead –
Growth, Development & Prosperity advised it would be considered on the cost of
a particular piece of infrastructure divided by the number of homes that would
benefit.
This is fundamental to the Cranbrook expansion and without it the Council’s five
year land supply fails.
Plea to Cabinet and Full Council to look at the land options and bond options for
securing the money. Please do not consider the parent company option because
the uncertainty is high.
This proposal would enable things to happen so a successful development can
follow.
The risk is identified as a high risk but in reality that risk is on the lower end of the
scale as this Council will see the money come back.
A good electricity supply is essential if this Council is to achieve its green targets.

The Service Lead – Growth, Development & Prosperity acknowledged all the concerns
raised and reassured Members that the interest costs that would need to be repaid in full
would be paid by the developer party. This means that all funds would come back to the
Council and overall would be cost neutral to the Council.
page 6

Strategic Planning Committee 20 July 2021

The following motion was proposed by Councillor Mike Allen and seconded by Councillor
Ben Ingham which was later withdrawn and further seconded by Councillor Jess Bailey.
‘That the report cannot proceed until it has a proper cost analysis, including the cost
implications to the Council.’
The proposer of the motion, Councillor Allen referred to the lack of detail in the report on
the financial element and the reason for asking for a further detailed report was because
it was the responsibility of the Committee to know what infrastructure was being
requested for £40m.
The motion was put to Committee and with seven votes against, two votes in support
and one abstention the motion was not carried.
Councillor Paul Arnott proposed the recommendations as written in the report and was
seconded by Councillor Eleanor Rylance.
The Chair requested that a vote take place and was carried with nine votes in support,
three votes against and one abstention.
RESOLVED:
1. That the significance of revolving infrastructure funds to both the past
delivery of infrastructure at Cranbrook and the potential impact in terms of
improving viability in relation to the future expansion areas be noted.
2. That an in-principle agreement to borrow up to £40m from the Public Works
Loan Board to capitalise the Cranbrook Local Infrastructure Fund be
recommended to Cabinet and Council for approval.
3. That a further report setting out the detailed terms of reference for the fund
be considered at a future Cabinet meeting were agreed.
RECOMMENDED TO CABINET:
That an in-principle agreement to borrow up to £40m from the Public Works Loan
Board to capitalise the Cranbrook Local Infrastructure Fund be agreed.
20

Planning obligations securing financial contributions to health care
The Chair welcomed David Tarbet, Business Development Director, Royal Devon &
Exeter NHS Trust who was available to answer any specific specialist questions raised
by Members.
The report presented by the Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development
Management updated Members about securing financial contributions from large scale
residential development to address the impact of those developments on health care
services in the area. He referred to a land swap application at Exeter Science Park in
2019 which, although there was not sufficient evidence to justify seeking a contribution at
that time, had set the path for working with the Trust to develop a robust methodology to
enable funding to be collected from future major residential developments.
The Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management referred to the
Wolborough Barton case decision on page 29 where the Secretary of State felt that
contributions towards health care could only be justified where developments were not
planned for at the stage of infrastructure developments. He also referred to the
page 7

Strategic Planning Committee 20 July 2021

Herefordshire case which slightly contradicted the Secretary of States previous decision
and broadened the scope where contributions could be sought.
As a result of a clear evidence base for seeking contributions and a clear methodology
for calculating those contributions based on activity data that the Trust hold, the Service
Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management advised there was now a
robust calculator and referred Members to the calculation of contributions as detailed in
the report.
He drew Members’ attention to the recommendations requesting Members’ to note the
discussions that had taken place between officers and Devon and Exeter NHS
Foundation Trust and agree the proposed approach.
Committee Member discussions covered:
 Support was shown for the report.
 Clarification sought on whether funding was retrospective to the time of year a
person moved in and whether there was a lag between the time and numbers. It
was suggested there was a need to lobby Central Government. In response, the
Business Development Director advised that there was a shortfall of a period of 12
– 18 months from when a person moves into the healthcare area and takes
occupation of a property and when funding starts to be received by the trust. He
referred to lobbying and advised that all NHS Trusts lobby to get a proper fair
settlement.
 Support was shown for figure 74 where the diagram shows where residents had
moved from.
 The need for the Healthcare Service to be properly funded, particularly in an area
with a rising average age.
 The need for a mandatory check list.
Councillor Ben Ingham supported the recommendations except for two words in the
second recommendation. He referred to the wording in recommendation 2 and
suggested that the words ‘(where requested)’ be deleted as the trust should not have to
request the funding, it should be automatic. In response the Service Lead – Planning
Strategy and Development Management advised that it was necessary for the trust to
make a submission and request the contributions because their contributions would be
calculated on a case by case basis and needed to be justified in each case. The
Business Development Director confirmed that it was the trust’s intention to submit every
time there was a development over ten dwellings.
The following motion was proposed by Councillor Ingham and seconded by Councillor
Bailey to read:
‘Agree that health care contributions calculated based on the methodology set out in this
report be sought from major new housing developments subject to viability testing where
relevant.’
During a debate on the amendment, comments included the following:
 Planning applications should not be put on hold while waiting for a response from
the trust.
 Support was shown for the recommendation as written.
 Support was shown for the consideration of supplementing the health service on
the basis of infrastructure requirements.
page 8

Strategic Planning Committee 20 July 2021




Support was shown to see East Devon District Council and NHS Trust working
together.
Cannot support the amendment to change the wording.

The following amendment to the motion was proposed by Councillor Blakey and
seconded by Councillor Skinner:
‘Agree that health care contributions calculated based on the methodology set out in this
report be sought (where requested) from major new housing developments subject to
viability testing where relevant.
The Chair requested a vote on the amended motion and was carried with five votes in
support, 1 vote against and three abstentions.
RESOLVED:
1. That the discussions that have taken place between officers and the Royal
Devon and Exeter NHS Foundation Trust with regards to developer
contributions to health care services be noted.
2. That health care contributions calculated based on the methodology set out
in this report be sought (where requested) from major new housing
developments subject to viability testing where relevant be agreed.
21

The Role and Function of Settlements - draft report
The report presented by the Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development
Management updated Members’ on how the settlement hierarchy was a key element of
the strategy for distributing development.
The Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management outlined the
responses received from the Local Plan Issues and Options consultations which were
finely balanced between either retaining the current settlement hierarchy or having fewer
villages within the hierarchy and 83 respondents proposing an alternative approach. He
referred Members’ to the role and function of Settlements draft report appended to this
report which looked at relevant issues to defining a settlement hierarchy. Members’
noted that settlements with a higher population, a greater range of jobs for the
community and transport facilities would sit at the top of the hierarchy. Small settlements
with a lower population, fewer jobs and a smaller range of facilities would sit lower.
Members’ also noted that while some settlements may have a wider range of services
and facilities within the parish it was also factored in as to whether those facilities are
within easy walking distance of the settlement.
The Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management highlighted a
minor error in the report as the work had not factored in an additional bus service in
Exton and the table on page 35 should include ‘yes’ under ‘less than hourly bus service’.
Non-Committee Members comments included:
 It was an excellent report and was welcomed.
 It was suggested that playing pitches was added to the criteria in the table on
page 69 of the agenda to see which settlements had playing pitches.
 It was suggested that additional wording be added to the recommendation to read
‘ that Strategic Planning Committee consider the finding of ‘The Role and Function
of Settlements – Draft’ and endorse its use as evidence to inform production of the
emerging Local Plan. In addition, to it being informed by other work on factors
page 9

Strategic Planning Committee 20 July 2021





such as housing, housing employment need, land availability and environmental
constraints’. In response the Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development
Management advised that constraints was a separate issue and would be looked
at later in the preparation of the Local Plan.
It was also suggested to include transport constraints. It is vital that terrible
transport links in East Devon is taken into consideration.
It was noted that Exmouth would be a tier one settlement.
Concerns raised about overdevelopment in tier one and tier two.

The Chair invited Committee Members to comment.
Councillor Ingham proposed the motion as written which was seconded by Councillor
Blakey.
During a debate on the motion Committee Members comments included:






Clarification sought on how certain places had ended up in certain tiers and
referred to Budleigh Salterton and Broadclyst being in the same tier when they
were not comparable in the services they offered. In response the Service Lead –
Planning Strategy and Development Management referred Members’ to the
comparative table on page 33 appended to the report which detailed the services
and facilities in each place and therefore the reasons for the tiers.
Support for West Clyst being its own village even though it is part of Broadclyst.
Members were encouraged to contact the Service Lead – Planning Strategy and
Development Management with any additions.
Cannot agree with the proposal as it stands and referred to paragraph 3.7. It was
highlighted that anything below tier 4 would be cast out in the open and that time
after time this council keeps saying no because of current policies when villages
want to build a few more houses. It was suggested that the tiers should be
increased to tier 7 to allow more villages to have a bit of growth. In response the
Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management urged caution
in the distinction between additional tiers and their criteria and to understand how
the additional tiers should be defined and distinct from the tiers already in place.

The following amendment to the motion was proposed by Councillor Mike Howe and
seconded by Councillor Philip Skinner read:
‘To extend the tier system by three more tiers each having one less facility or service.’
Further debate from Committee Members included:







Several Members support the need for playing pitches to be included in the
hierarchy. The Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management
confirmed he was happy to look into this as it was an important facility.
The Council should not lose sight of the sustainability objectives.
The objectives of the Local Plan is to achieve sustainable development and
referred to economic objectives, social objectives and environmental objectives.
As an Exmouth Councillor I appreciate having Exmouth in the top tier but urged
caution against thinking all development can be located there and highlighted that
some people living in Exmouth are further away from facilities than many houses
in the countryside are from their nearest village.
The need to consider how to locate development to consider the future of the
possibility of home working and how to redefine sustainability.
page 10

Strategic Planning Committee 20 July 2021




It was felt that the fourth tier was contentious and would split decision and opinion.
The need to look at the flows of employment and referred to page 61 that showed
the clear nodes of employment and the flow diagram that showed the commuting
routes.

The Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management welcomed
Members’ comments and feedback which would be taken on board and acknowledged
Members’ concerns about settlement thresholds and advised a report would be brought
back to Committee at the meeting in October to allow Members’ time to comment.
Councillor Ingham proposed an amendment to his motion to read:
1. That Strategic Planning Committee consider the findings of ‘The Role and
Function of Settlements as a draft document and endorse its use as evidence to
inform production of the emerging Local Plan.
2. All Members of the Council should send to the Service Lead – Planning Strategy
and Development Management all comments and amendments that they wish to
be taken into account. The Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development
Management to then report back to the Committee at a meeting after the
September meeting.
Councillor Bailey advised that she was not prepared to accept the amendment and
withdrew as seconder.
In response Councillor Howe withdrew his motion and seconded Councillor Ingham’s
amendment to the motion. He outlined the need for leeway with the smallest rural
villages to allow development of just a trickle of houses to keep them ticking over.
The Chair requested that a vote take place on Councillor Ingham’s amended motion
which was carried with 10 votes in support.
RESOLVED:
1. That the findings of ‘The Role and Function of Settlements as a draft
document be considered and its use as evidence to inform production of the
emerging Local Plan be endorsed.
2. All Members of the Council should send to the Service Lead – Planning
Strategy and Development Management all comment and amendments that
they wish to be taken into account. The Service Lead – Planning Strategy
and Development Management to then report back to the Committee at a
meeting after the September meeting.

Attendance List
Councillors present:
D Ledger (Chair)
O Davey (Vice-Chair)
M Allen
P Arnott
J Bailey
K Blakey
S Chamberlain
P Hayward
M Howe
page 11

Strategic Planning Committee 20 July 2021

B Ingham
A Moulding
G Pratt
E Rylance
P Skinner
Committee Members present virtually (for some or all of the meeting)
S Chamberlain
Councillors also present (for some or all the meeting)
M Armstrong
J Bonetta
C Brown
B De Saram
N Hookway
S Jackson
G Jung
P Millar
M Rixson
Officers in attendance:
Ed Freeman, Service Lead Planning Strategy and Development Management
Andrew Wood, Service Lead - Growth Development and Prosperity
Thea Billeter, Cranbrook New Community Manager
Anita Williams, Principal Solicitor (and Deputy Monitoring Officer)
Mark Williams, Chief Executive
Representative from RD&E NHS Foundation Trust
Dave Tarbet, Business Development Director
Councillor apologies:
G Pook

Chairman

Date:

page 12

Agenda Item 7
Report to:

Strategic Planning Committee

Date of Meeting 7 September 2021
Document classification: Part A Public Document
Exemption applied: None
Review date for release N/A
Working towards a draft local plan for approval for consultation in March 2022
Report summary:
This report seeks to give greater clarity to the recommended approach for local plan production
that would see a Working Draft local plan coming to Strategic Planning Committee in December
2021. This Working Draft plan will identify a range of strategic themes with options and an officer
recommendation on suggested preferred policy approaches. The intent is that choices made in
December 2021 will feed through into a refined draft plan that will come back to Committee in
March 2022 with a recommendation for public consultation. This consultation document, under
officer proposals, will see preferred strategy choices and policies set out, with justification for their
inclusion alongside alternative options that have been rejected, with reason for rejection.
Larger scale proposed, and rejected, development site allocations will also feature in the Working
Draft plan to committee in December 2021 and the full range of proposed land allocations,
including large and small sites, and rejected options, will feature in the March 2022 plan.
Is the proposed decision in accordance with:
Budget

Yes ☒ No ☐

Policy Framework

Yes ☒ No ☐

Recommendation:
1) That Strategic Planning Committee endorse the approach of receiving, in December
2021, a Working Draft local plan.
2) That Committee endorse the aim of preparing a draft plan setting out the favoured
strategy and policy approach for consultation to be considered by Committee in
March 2022.

Reason for recommendation: To ensure that Members are aware of the future proposed
stages in plan making and to provide clarity for officers in their work ahead.
Officer: Ed Freeman, Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management, e-mail efreeman@eastdevon.gov.uk, Tel: 01395 517519
Portfolio(s) (check which apply):
☒ Climate Action
☐ Corporate Services and COVID-19 Response and Recovery
page 13

☒ Democracy and Transparency
☒ Economy and Assets
☒ Coast, Country and Environment
☐ Finance
☒ Strategic Planning
☒ Sustainable Homes and Communities
Equalities impact Low Impact
Climate change Low Impact
Risk: Low Risk; .
Links to background information – See links in the attached the report.
Link to Council Plan:
Priorities (check which apply)
☒ Outstanding
☒ Outstanding
☒ Outstanding
☒ Outstanding

Place and Environment
Homes and Communities
Economic Growth, Productivity, and Prosperity
Council and Council Services

1

Introduction

1.1

Strategic Planning Committee has, over recent months, received a series of papers that
have highlighted potential matters to be addressed in a new local plan. Further similar
papers are proposed to be produced during the rest of this year. After that we have a
timetable for bringing a plan to Strategic Planning Committee in December 2021, the
intention is, as referenced in this report, that this plan will be referred to as a Working Draft
local plan. This Working Draft will then be amended in early 2022 with a revised version, a
draft plan, coming to committee in March 2022.

1.2

Approval would be sought at the March 2022 meeting for public consultation on the draft
plan. The Local Development Scheme (LDS) has previously been approved and it forms a
project plan for plan production. The dates in this report conform to the LDS timetable and
consultation undertaken will fall in/after Regulation 18 of the plan making regulations and
before Regulation 19 – see: The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England)
Regulations 2012 (legislation.gov.uk)

1.3

Given work undertaken to date, and the timetable ahead, now is a timely stage to provide
more detailed officer recommendation on the suggested approach to the December 2021
and the March 2022 documents. It is stressed at the outset that drafts of the plan for
December 2021 and March 2022 will not, and simply cannot given time and other
constraints, contain all of the detail, supported by complete evidence, which the final
publication draft of the plan (at Regulation 19), scheduled to go to Strategic Planning
Committee in October 2022, will contain. Indeed, the preparation of a Local Plan is an
page 14

iterative process to be informed by public consultation and technical evidence gathering
over time, so it would be ‘wrong’ to have all of the answers at this relatively early stage in
preparing the Plan.
1.4

Consequently, preparation for a Working Draft plan will be informed by evidence available
in time for the December 2021 Committee. The plan will then be further informed as more
evidence becomes available prior to the March 2022 Committee. A clear audit trail of what
evidence the Council relied on at each stage to identify and select the emerging strategy
and policy options is part of transparent decision making. It will also help the Council to
show how the plan has been justified, consistent with the test of soundness.

1.5

The LDS shows that consultation on the Publication draft plan (Regulation 19) starts in
October 2022. The Publication plan is the version that is made available for public
comment with the comments, the plan and other documents being submitted to the
Planning Inspectorate for Examination. Members are advised that the Planning Inspector
will test legal compliance including whether the plan has been prepared in accordance with
the latest LDS, this includes the scope of the plan and the plan-making timetable.

1.6

It is stressed at this stage (i.e. at September 2021) that members are not being asked to
make explicit strategy and policy choices, for example whether to endorse higher or lower
development levels in one part of the District in comparison to another or at one town as
opposed to another. To do so would be premature in the absence of further evidence and
assessment work, most specifically (and this has relevance to meeting legal tests) in the
absence of consideration of Sustainability Appraisal (SA) work. The plan could fail at
examination in the absence of alternative options being assessed through the SA and
without this assessment work subsequently informing strategy and policy choices.

1.7

What is legitimate, appropriate and desirable at this stage, however, is to provide more
information on how and at what times we envisage committee making decisions regarding
some of the strategy and policy matters to feature in future documents and to advise on the
suggested structure and format of a draft plan.

2

The proposed scope of the local plan

2.1

As noted in earlier committee reports the intention is to produce a single local plan that
aims to cover all policy matters that are typically expected to arise and be needed in
respect of determination of planning applications that fall to East Devon District Council for
decision. The one big caveat to this is that the Cranbrook Plan (which is assumed to be
adopted in 2021 or 2022) will be expected to be the primary policy document for use in
determining planning applications at Cranbrook for the foreseeable future. Over the longer
term it remains to be determined how, when and in what way the new local plan or other
plans may supersede parts or all of the Cranbrook Plan.

2.2

The Council will, however, need to update the LDS before Publication regarding the scope
of the new local plan. The LDS will need to make clear whether the new local plan will
supersede the Cranbrook Plan in whole or in part and the Examination Inspector will
undertake a further legal test to check that the new local plan has been prepared in
accordance with the latest version of the LDS. This includes the scope of the new plan and
its plan-making timetable.
page 15

2.3

Members are reminded that if there is any conflict between the local plan and other
Development Plan Documents (DPD’s) then it is the latest plan to be adopted that takes
precedent.

2.4

Production of a new local plan that covers all key policy matters does not preclude the
production of Supplementary Planning Documents or other guidance documents that
provide more detail on the application of policy. But such supplementary documents, unlike
the local plan and Neighbourhood Plans will not be part of the Development Plan and as
such will carry less weight and cannot include planning policy.

2.5

The current intention is that the new local plan will cover the period up to the 31 March
2040, in line with the NPPF (paragraph 22) which states that local plans should look ahead
over a minimum 15 year period from adoption. Though should plan making timetables slip
we may need to review the plan end date. Should the local plan include longer term
development proposals, for example large scale development sites, perhaps one or more
additional new towns, then policy references and planned development may well extend
beyond 2040. The latest National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021) states that ‘where
larger scale developments such as new settlements or significant extensions to existing
villages and towns form part of the strategy for the area, policies should be set within a
vision that looks further ahead (at least 30 years), to take into account the likely timescale
for delivery’. Under such circumstances it would be relevant for the plan to provide a clear
steer on the approach for any post 2040 development to occur.

3

Potential changes by Government to the plan making system

3.1

It is important to reiterate comment in earlier committee reports that the Government have
proposed potentially significant changes to the planning system. We are producing the
local plan, at this stage, to the requirements, procedures and policy expectations that exist
at present. However, should changes be made by Government that impact on plan
content, format or policy expectations then it will be appropriate to review the approach we
are taking and if needed adapt accordingly.

4

The Council Plan and other emerging Council strategy documents

4.1

A new Council Plan is in production and when completed and approved the content will be
scrutinised to identify matters that may have planning policy implications or relevance.
Assuming that the Council plan is finalised before the end of this year the key themes and
messages within will be used to inform local plan content and preparation.

4.2

There may also be additional Council strategies that will be available in time to inform the
development of local plan policy with these potentially including a leisure strategy and
tourism strategy.

5

The vision, aims and objectives for the plan

5.1

NPPF paragraph 15 makes clear that a succinct and up-to-date Plan should provide a
positive vision for the future of the area. The plan ‘provides a framework for addressing
housing needs and other economic, social and environmental priorities and a platform for
local people to shape their surroundings’.
page 16

5.2

The January 2021 Issues and Options consultation document did not set out a plan vision,
although it did set out potential broad objectives for the plan to achieve. The Council
consulted on ten objectives at the Issues and Options stage in January 2021 and invited
further or amended objectives to be submitted.

5.3

At their meeting on 27 April 2021, Strategic Planning Committee considered objectives and
a vision. They resolved that the objectives consulted on at the Issues and Options (January
2021) stage remain the objectives that they wish the plan to focus. Committee also
resolved that the Council Plan as a vision for the future of the district which identifies initial
key priorities and outcomes for the future of Local Plan production be considered. Strategic
Planning Committee in December 2021 will therefore consider the first articulation of the
plan’s vision. There will be an opportunity to refine that vision when committee considers
the draft plan in March 2022. The vision will need to be informed by the Council’s
strategies and Corporate Plan and other relevant ‘wider than local’ strategies which the
Council has signed up to or expressed support for. It will also need to be informed by
consideration of the responses to the 2021 consultation on local plan Issues and Options
report.

5.4

To help achieve this vision and inform the local plan’s policies, a series of plan objectives
are developed in parallel with the Sustainability Appraisal process. Further commentary on
this matter is set out later in this report.

6

An interactive new local plan and encouraging public engagement

6.1

We are still considering alternative ways to present the local plan, when consulted on, in an
interactive manner in order to make the plan more accessible and making comment easier.
Nevertheless, the Council will need to consider what printed documents will be available
and when, noting that regulations still advise of the need for copies to be made available,
this is implied to mean paper copies. The inspector examining the plan may also request
that a paper copy is supplied.

6.2

Looking forward we would wish to more fully explore potential for an interactive web site
that can be used or created that incorporates all Development Plan polices, to include the
local plan, Cranbrook Plan and Neighbourhood Plans, into a single place so that all relevant
polices in respect of any planning application or proposal are grouped together in an easily
accessible format and manner. We are not aware of whether anyone has done this to date
and are investigating ways in which this could be achieved.

7

Format and chapter structure of the new local plan

7.1

At this stage we would not envisage producing a new local plan that deviates from relatively
standard and commonly used chapter structuring as found in many local plans. It is
envisaged that summary introduction text will set out the reasons for producing the plan and
some of the factors informing key issues and approach taken in the plan. At this early
stage we would envisage setting out material on vision, goals and objectives and this will
lead on to separate chapters that cover key subject matters.

7.2

It is likely that there would be a chapter on the Spatial Strategy with a focus on policies
towards the settlement hierarchy and the network of centres, and on place-making. This
could provide the essential link from the vision and objectives to the subject policy matters.
page 17

7.3

The subject matters of the local plan are likely to cover such areas and policy matters as:




Housing;
Employment;
Design;




Transport;
Landscape,





Biodiversity;
Heritage;
Climate change;



Community uses

7.4

Mindful of the test of soundness and effectiveness, the Plan might include a generic policy
towards implementation and delivery. For example this might include the approaches to:
governance; implementation strategies; CIL; S106; and a monitoring framework.

7.5

The above list is not, however, intended to be definitive or in any specific order as the final
structure remains to be determined.

7.6

For the new plan one big difference from the current local plan is, however, that we do not
envisage having strategic policies in one distinct section of the plan and then separated
from these in another distinct section the Development Management (non-strategic)
policies. Separation of the strategic policies from the non-strategic policies as it exists in
the current local plan, has been identified as leading to some degree of confusion. So, for
example, a plan user interested in housing would need to look in the strategic section of the
plan for some housing policy references and at the non-strategic section for other housing
policy references. In the new plan we envisage grouping all (strategic and non-strategic)
policies together under subject based headings, though we will make a clear distinction
between what is strategic and what is non-strategic. It should be noted that Neighbourhood
Plan cannot override strategic policies but they can do this for non-strategic policies.

7.7

In the new plan we will also look to have fewer policies and less text around them. We
envisage most polices being prefaced by a succinct introduction, followed by the policy
itself and then ‘to the point’ information about the policy and its application (the reasoned
justification). It should be noted that whilst draft versions of the plan can contain information
about how policy choices have developed and evolved, and alternatives considered, such
background information should not appear in the final version of the plan and at
Examination planning inspectors may look unfavourably on such background text.

8

Suggested approach for the December 2021 Working Draft and the March 2022 draft
plan

8.1

Our plan making timetable sets out that in December 2021 Strategic Planning Committee
will receive a draft version of a proposed consultation document, though in reality it will be
more an overview of proposed plan content and strategy and policy choices rather than a
specific draft plan. Producing a document of this nature will provide scope for Committee to
reach decisions and provide a clear steer on future plan content. We are referring to this
December 2021 version as a Working Draft local plan.
page 18

8.2

We envisage that this Working Draft plan will follow the format and structure set out earlier
in this report but will major on strategic policy options rather than necessarily getting into
matters of policy detail. In presenting a Working Draft plan to Committee in December
2021 we wish to get instruction and clarity from members on whether they consider that the
approach recommended is in line with what they envisage and therefore wish to see
coming back to them in revised and fuller format in March 2022, with a recommendation at
that stage for pubic consultation. If committee do not wish to see such an approach
followed then there will need to be rapid reworking to meet plan making timetables.

8.3

For the December 2021 Working Draft plan we propose to produce a document that sets
out the preferred strategy and key policies that we think should be included in the plan. We
will also set out alternative options or approaches in this working Draft that have been
considered setting out evidence based reasons for supporting or rejecting alternative
options. In this Working Draft plan we envisage showing recommended land allocations for
strategic and/or larger scale development sites and details of rejected sites. Where
information and assessment is available we would also look to include smaller scale
proposed allocations sites (and rejected options) in this Working Draft plan.

8.4

It does, however, need to be stressed that any recommendations made will be based on
the evidence available at the time of plan writing and as such the plan will need to include
appropriate caveats to include the fact that as plan making progresses new evidence may
come to light that justifies refinement of approach or which sees alternative options
becoming more favourable.

8.5

Of course in advising now of the shape that we envisage the December 2021 draft of the
plan taking we give an early opportunity (i.e. now) for members to provide their steer and
instruction.

8.6

For the March 2022 version of the plan (the document we propose to consult on) we
envisage that a refined and fuller version of the December 2021 document will come back
to committee. The proposal is that it will also include the favoured approach and rejected
alternatives.

8.7

Taking such an approach at consultation would give people the opportunity to see what is
favoured and what is rejected and why and for this to inform their overall thinking and
response. It is reasonable to say that there may sometimes be very clear reasons to favour
one option over another but in other cases there could be a more closely balanced set of
considerations and public consultation can be a good way to test and refine the overall
balance.

9

The role and importance of a plan strategy

9.1

In this report we refer to plan strategy and also plan policy. A strategy can be looked upon
as the overarching approach to any given subject matter whereas plan policies may be
looked upon as the more detailed considerations that arise from and aim to implement that
strategy. For local plans, NPPF states that ‘policies need to be clearly written and
unambiguous, so it is evident how a decision maker should react to development
proposals’.
page 19

9.2

If time were no object the Council could choose to develop a strategy first and then test and
consult on it before turning attention to more detailed policy concerns. A defining a strategy
first approach has the advantage that it can help provide a focus for future work and can
start to rule-out, or potentially rule-in, detailed policy or site allocation options. For example
if the plan strategy was to very much concentrate development at East Devon towns and
selected villages it may rule out the appropriateness of considering, at least in any detail,
potential options for very large scale development close to Exeter such as another new
town. However, given plan making timetables, and where we are now, there will inevitably
have to be some compressing together of the strategic considerations and more detailed
policy considerations.

9.3

It is suggested that the practical approach to plan making will be for the report to Committee
in December to specifically highlight and major on strategic considerations and following the
decision of committee for officers to then translate the agreed strategic approach into more
detailed policy choices for the March 2022 plan which members will then consider.
Notwithstanding this over-arching approach there are going to be some more detailed
policy matters and policy choices that might be relevant to make almost irrespective of
strategy and could therefore be reasonable to include and reference in the December 2021
draft of the plan.

10

The importance of Sustainability Appraisal (SA) and other evidence

10.1

One of the legal tests for any plan relates to the development and use of the SA (references
in this report to SA also include legal requirements for a parallel aspect of work called
Strategic Environmental Assessment). The SA should be ongoing as the plan develops
and to meet legal requirements the appraisal work needs to identify and compare
reasonable alternative options. Unreasonable alternatives, for example because they are
contrary to the NPPF with inadequate evidence to justify a departure, or that are clearly not
viable, can be dismissed. Nevertheless, they still need to be identified in the SA work, with
a list of succinct reasons why the Council considers that the alternatives are not
‘reasonable’. Reasonable alternatives must be tested by the SA process, and the results
available in time to inform decision making about selecting and rejecting alternatives, and
for subsequent consultation.

10.2

Members are reminded that the SA also tests the local plan’s objectives. In preparing the
plan objectives, the Council will be mindful of NPPF paragraph 9. This makes clear that the
three interdependent, overarching objectives relating to achieving sustainable development,
should be delivered through the preparation and implementation of plans and the
application of the policies in NPPF. Plan making will also need to take into account other
relevant objectives set out in NPPF and other statements of national planning policy.

10.3

It is necessary for the Council to test the local plan’s plan objectives against a suite of
sustainability objectives which are set out in the SA. The SA also has to demonstrate how
the plan, including policies and proposals, addressed relevant economic, social and
environmental objectives (NPPF paragraph 32).

10.4

The intention is that the December 2021 version of the plan will be accompanied by SA
work and members will be encouraged to draw on this and other evidence in reaching their
conclusions.
page 20

10.5

The draft plan being considered by members in March 2022, including the vision and
objectives as well as policy options, will also need to have been informed by the
conclusions and recommendations of the SA. That SA will test the ‘reasonable alternatives’
as well as the favoured strategy and policy options. We will, for the March 2022 version of
the plan, have an updated SA report available in time to inform the Committee decision on
the draft plan. This SA report will be consulted on in its own right, as required by legislation,
and sit alongside the draft plan document at consultation.

10.6

Other evidence will also need to inform policy choices and where available this should be
published alongside or in support of consultation on the draft plan. It should be noted,
however, that not all evidence documents will be available and completed by and to inform
the March 2022 plan and much less so the December 2021 document. In some cases
there just will not be time to complete all evidence reports and in other cases certain
evidence production is not realistically possible, or at least can only be somewhat
hypothetical, in the absence of proposed policy detail.

10.7

An example of evidence work that typically best follows on from some policy development is
detailed viability testing, specifically noting that whole plan viability testing is an essential
part of plan making and there needs to be some detail of policy development in order to test
viability considerations. It should be noted that viability testing can be even more critical in
respect of assessing development site allocations and whilst some over-arching comments
can start to inform early site options and choices there will ultimately be the need for more
detailed assessment work, in line with guidance on viability and plan-making.

11

Policy matters proposed for inclusion in the December 2021 plan

11.1

More details on some of the key subject matters that are likely to come forward for the
December 2021 Working Draft plan are set out below.
a)

Settlement hierarchy and networks of centres – at the core of place making and
the plan’s spatial strategy is the focus on settlements and centres. The places where
people live and work, and where town centre uses are concentrated, supporting local
communities.

b)

Levels of housing provision – a key part of the plan strategy will be determining a
relevant amount of new housing provision for the plan period. A lower level option is
likely to match Government minimum expectations. Though this provision may need
to be increased to ensure there are sufficient new homes to accommodate enough
workers to match possible job growth expectations or aspirations to support greater
levels of affordable housing development.

c)

Strategy for jobs and economic activity – the plan will need to be informed by and
set out an overall strategy for accommodating economic growth and jobs.
Consideration will need to be given to the types and levels of jobs that are seen as
appropriate (and which are achievable) for the District.

d)

Distribution of development – the current local plan accommodates much of the
new development in the West End close to Exeter. In the new plan we will need to
define an overall strategic approach on where to accommodate future development,
at what sorts of levels and why. Decisions on distribution of development will need to
page 21

address and be taken within the context of overall housing growth levels as well as
economic objectives.
e)

Type of sites to allocate for development – the local plan will need to identify and
allocate sites for development and there are choices to be made around the types of
sites, including site sizes and other characteristics that may feature as allocations.

f)

Promoting carbon neutrality and adapting to climate change – with
commitments to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and respond to a changing
climate it is assumed the new local plan will make this subject matter a key
consideration and plan strategy will need to establish standards and respond to
challenges and opportunities that exist.

11.2

The above list is not intended to be exhaustive of all strategic matters that may be
presented to committee in December 2021 and nor does it seek to address non-strategic
policy matters that may nonetheless be reasonable for inclusion in the committee papers. It
should be noted that many of the above matters are intrinsically inter-linked with and have
implications for one-another.

12

Implications for neighbourhood planning

12.1

The local plan will, in due course, have fundamental impacts on future neighbourhood plan
making in East Devon. Neighbourhood Plans will need to accord with (and cannot
contradict) strategic policies in a local plan. They can though add more detail to local plan
policies.

12.2

Where there are possible conflicts or contradictions between a local plan and the
neighbourhood plan it is the most recently adopted plan that takes precedence, this means
that some policies in a newly adopted local plan could supersede policies in existing
Neighbourhood Plans. Neighbourhood plan groups will no doubt wish to keep an eye on
the local plan as it develops, make representations and consider whether and at what point
it may be timely for them to review their plans.

12.3

In producing the new local plan we are, however, mindful of the work that has gone into
Neighbourhood Plan production and the local support they have received. We are,
therefore, considering the potential for incorporation of the thinking and policy approaches
in Neighbourhood Plans into the local plan. If there is the need for Neighbourhood Plan
reviews we are also mindful of the fact that we have a statutory duty as an authority to
assist groups in preparing plans.

Financial Implications
There are no financial implications requiring comment at this stage.
Legal Implications
There are no legal implications other than as set out in this consultative report.

page 22

Agenda Item 8
Report to:

Strategic Planning Committee

Date of Meeting 7 September 2021
Document classification: Part A Public Document
Exemption applied: None
Review date for release N/A
HELAA Panel constitution and role
Report summary:
Integral to the preparation of the HELAA is a ‘panel’ of key stakeholders who have a recognised
interest and experience in the development of land for housing and employment. This report sets
out the composition of the panel and the role they play in the formulation of the HELAA. It asks
members to agree a terms of reference and constitution and to appoint two members of the
Council to the Panel.
Is the proposed decision in accordance with:

Budget

Yes ☒ No ☐

Policy Framework

Yes ☒ No ☐

Recommendation:
(1) That Strategic Planning Committee recommends agreement to the proposed panel
constitution and terms of reference in appendix 1.
(2) That Strategic Planning Committee recommends to appoint the Portfolio Holder for
Economy and Assets and the Portfolio Holder for Strategic Planning onto the HELAA
panel.
(3) That Strategic Planning Committee recommends agreement to delegate authority to
the Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management in consultation
with the Portfolio Holder for Strategic Planning, to make any further minor changes
that might arise from a review of the panel’s constitution and terms of reference by
the panel.
Reason for recommendation:
Members previously requested further information on the panel before the first meeting is held.
These recommendations seek to inform and agree the process for undertaking the HELAA panel
sessions so that work can proceed.
Officer: Ed Freeman, Service Lead – Planning, e-mail - efreeman@eastdevon.gov.uk, Tel: 01395
517519

Portfolio(s) (check which apply):
☐ Climate Action and Emergencies
☐ Coast, Country and Environment

page 23

☐ Council and Corporate Co-ordination
☐ Culture, Tourism, Leisure and Sport
☐ Democracy and Transparency
☐ Economy and Assets
☐ Finance
☒ Strategic Planning
☐ Sustainable Homes and Communities
Equalities impact Low Impact
.
Climate change Low Impact
Risk: Low Risk; as members are being ask to note progress rather than make a decision .
Links to background information
Link to Council Plan:
Priorities (check which apply)
☒ Outstanding
☒ Outstanding
☒ Outstanding
☐ Outstanding

Place and Environment
Homes and Communities
Economic Growth, Productivity, and Prosperity
Council and Council Services

Report in full
1

Background

1.1

At the Strategic Planning Committee meeting of 22nd June members agreed a variety of
amendments to the process for conducting the Housing and Economic Land Availability
Assessment (HELAA). In addition to this, they also requested that “further information on
the composition of the HELAA panel is brought back to Committee before the HELAA
panel’s first meeting to be set out including the role of local members on the panel.”

2

Proposed Constitution and Terms of Reference

2.1

A constitution and terms of reference was previously jointly adopted in 2016 by the
authorities in the Exeter housing market area and this has been used to regulate the
formation, structure, role and operation of the panel since then. A common approach to
HELAA production across the Exeter housing market area is considered to be sensible in
terms of use of resources and the duty to co-operate.

2.2

Given this process has been successful in the production of past HELAAs in the area, it is
proposed that that no material changes to the detail of the document are made. However, a
number of minor changes have been made to national planning practice guidance since
then so references have been updated.

2.3

Members are therefore asked to agree the panel constitution and terms of references as
presented. It should be noted that any agreed version will be shared with partner authorities
in the Exeter Housing Market Area and confirmed at the first panel.

2.4

Should the panel wish to make any minor amendments to the constitution, to ensure timely
progress members are also asked to agree a process for allowing this to be done through
page 24

delegated authority granted to the Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development
Management in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Strategic Planning.
2.5

Detailed in the document are the responsibilities of the panel, its makeup and the process
for undertaking panel meetings.

2.6

It will be important for the Local Plan examination for us to be able to demonstrate that any
allocations we include are “deliverable” and so it is a necessary and essential part of the
process for us to gather advice from individuals and organisations with experience in
delivering housing and economic development. This requirement is also laid out in National
Planning Policy Framework1.

2.7

At the meeting some members expressed some concerns over the HELAA process,
particularly with respect to the role and influence the panel has in determining which sites
may be allocated in the Local Plan.

2.8

It should be stressed in no uncertain terms that the role of the panel is to act on an advisory
basis, utilising their breadth of experience principally on whether a site is “achievable”,
taking into account factors such as the constraints of the site and viability and deliverability
issues that arise from them. Consideration of sites and how they fit with emerging policy
and the objectives of the Council will be undertaken by officers who will then make
recommendations about particular sites. The role of the panel is made clear in the
constitution and terms of reference in para 2.17. Outputs from the HELAA will be used as
evidence to inform the Local Plan process and it will be for the Council and its members to
decide on which sites are to be allocated for development.

3

Composition of the panel

3.1

Composition of the panel will largely be drawn from previously appointed members who
have been involved in HELAA work undertaken in the housing market area. Where a
candidate is no longer available or declines to confirm their acceptance of Panel
membership then a suitable alternative will be chosen.

3.2

Given that we want to draw from those with experience and are familiar with the market for
delivering housing and employment in the area, having an interest in the development of
one or more potential sites will not preclude Membership of the Panel. However, where
such an interest exists either as the controller of land, or with an option to purchase, or as
agent for a landowner then this interest must be declared to the Panel.

4

Role of members on the panel

4.1

Members play a key role in representing the Council and community on the panel. They
may also have specific knowledge of sites which will be valuable to inform panel
discussions.

4.2

In the past the portfolio holders covering the Economy and Strategic Planning have been
chosen to represent the Council on the Panel. Given that the HELAA will have important
outputs both for strategic planning and the economy it is proposed that this approach is
continued and that members agree to appoint to the panel both the Portfolio Holder for
Economy and Assets (Councillor Paul Hayward) and the Portfolio Holder for Strategic
Planning (Councillor Dan Ledger).

5

Implications for Neighbourhood Planning

1

Para 68, National Planning Policy Framework

page 25

5.1

The HELAA including advice from the panel and other background information will form an
important evidence base that Neighbourhood Plan groups can utilise in the formation of
their plans. This will be particularly useful if groups are seeking to allocate sites.

Financial implications:
There are no specific financial implications which require comment.
Legal implications:
There are no legal comments other than as set out in the report

page 26

Appendix 1

Stakeholder Panel for Housing and
Economic Land Availability
Assessments in the Exeter Housing
Market Area

HELAA Panel Constitution and Terms
of Reference

Revised July 2021

0

page 27

1.0

Introduction
Why is there a need for a Panel?

1.1

The Government’s Planning Practice Guidance1 makes clear the importance
of a partnership approach to the preparation of Housing and Economic Land
Availability Assessments (HELAAs). Whilst this is not overly prescriptive, it
advocates that local planning authorities should work with key stakeholders to
undertake assessments, to ensure a joined-up and robust approach.

1.2

In 2007, the local authorities forming the Exeter Housing Market Area
(hereafter referred to as the ‘partner authorities’) established a “Panel” of key
stakeholders to assist in the preparation of the housing element of HELAAs
(formerly referred to as Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessments, or
SHLAA). Following publication of the Planning Practice Guidance in 2014,
the Panel’s role has expanded to include the provision of advice on economic
development within the Exeter Housing Market Area (hereafter referred to as
the EHMA), thereby assisting in the preparation of HELAAs.

Partner Authorities
Dartmoor National Park Authority
East Devon District Council
Exeter City Council
Mid Devon District Council
Teignbridge District Council

1.3

Panel input is a key stage in the process of preparing HELAAs, as set out in
the “HELAA Methodology” (hereafter referred to as the “Methodology”) 2. The
Methodology makes clear that the Panel should be representative of a broad
cross section of the housing and economic development industries in the
EHMA. It will therefore be well placed to provide an informed view on the
“achievability” of potential sites for new housing and economic development
that are deemed to be “suitable” and “available” through assessment by the
partner authorities. The Panel’s other roles and responsibilities are set out in
paragraph 3.4 below.

1.4

A diagram illustrating the way in which the Panel will operate during the
preparation of each HELAA is included at Annex 1.

1

Planning Practice Guidance: Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessments (July
2019) Department for Communities and Local Government, paragraph 3-007.
2 Exeter HMA HELAA Methodology (May 2021) Local authorities of the Exeter HMA.

page 28

Constitution and Terms of Reference
1.5

The preparation of HELAAs will generate significant public interest and
expectation. For the sake of clarity and transparency in the management of
the process and to assist in the effective operation of the Panel, the partner
authorities therefore consider it necessary that the Panel is bound by a
Constitution and Terms of Reference.

1.6

This Constitution and Terms of Reference has been considered and endorsed
by the Panel in agreement with a Steering Group of officers representing the
partner authorities (hereafter referred to as “the Steering Group”).

1.7

Each partner authority in the EHMA will be responsible for making the
approved Constitution and Terms of Reference publicly available.

1.8

The Constitution and Terms of Reference will be kept under review by the
Panel and Steering Group.

page 29

2.0

Constitution
Purpose

2.1

The Constitution sets out how the Panel will be formed, how it will operate,
how decisions will be made and the procedures that will be followed when
preparing HELAAs in the EHMA.
Membership

2.2

The Panel will be made up of Members from:


Organisations / companies / individuals that are representative of the
broad spectrum of the housing and economic development industries
in the EHMA. To be representative, each will need to be actively
engaged in the development of land for housing and/or economic
development, for example as a land agent (i.e. national, regional or
local) or developer (e.g. volume or small scale house builder),
Registered Provider, architect, planner or urban designer or other
related profession that may usefully inform the assessment of
potential sites for housing and economic development;



The following “agencies”: Environment Agency; Highways England;
English Heritage; Natural England; Homes and Communities Agency;
and Devon County Council (in its capacity as Highways Authority,
Local Education Authority and Minerals and Waste Authority)3;



One of more planning officers from the relevant partner authority/ies
for the planning administrative area/s for which the Panel is engaged
in the preparation of a HELAA;



One of more economic development officers from the relevant partner
local authority/ies for the planning administrative area/s for which the
Panel is engaged in the preparation of a HELAA;



The community4 for the planning administrative area for which the
Panel is engaged in the preparation of a HELAA.

2.3

Membership by representatives of the house and economic development
industries will be through acceptance of an offer of appointment made by the
Steering Group, in accordance with the selection criteria set out in Appendix 2
to this report.

2.4

Where a Panel member representing the house and/or economic
development industries elects to leave the Panel, the Steering Group will be
responsible for making an offer of appointment to another organisation /
company / individual in accordance with the requirements for selection set out
in Annex 2 to this report.

3

Due to limited resources, it is accepted that these agencies may be unable to attend Panel
meetings.
4 Community representation will be determined by each partner authority and could include
either Elected Members or representatives of community groups. Community representatives
will be required to provide Local Planning Authority area wide input to the process.

page 30

2.5

Panel members will be expected to attend Panel meetings regularly. The
Steering Group will periodically review Panel membership. If a Panel
Member is identified as having a low attendance record, their membership will
be reconsidered by the Steering Group. The Steering Group will be
responsible for appointing a replacement Panel Member, as described in
paragraph 2.4 above.

2.6

Membership of the Panel will be on a voluntary / unpaid basis. There will be
no budget provision for the Panel.
Leading Panel Meetings

2.7

Panel meetings will be chaired by a representative from the relevant partner
authority/ies.
Accountability

2.8

The Panel will be shared by the partner authorities. It will report to the partner
authority/ies preparing a HELAA through the partner authority’s/ies’
representative(s) on the Panel.

2.9

Each partner authority will that ensure that the Panel works in a transparent
manner and in accordance with the Methodology and the Constitution and
Terms of Reference.

2.10

Panel members will be provided with unpublished information about identified
sites and other draft documentation relating to the preparation of HELAA.
They will be required to keep this information confidential. Where there is
deemed to be inappropriate conduct5 by a Panel Member this will be referred
to the Steering Group which will act as arbitrator to resolve the matter.
Timetables and Meetings

2.11

Following its inception meeting, Panel Members may be required to attend
successive meetings in agreement with each partner authority as necessary
to facilitate the completion of a HELAA. Each partner authority will be
expected to prepare a timetable indicating likely dates for meetings, make
provision for a suitable venue and make clear the timescales for the process
leading to the completion of the HELAA. This will need to be agreed between
the partner authority and the Panel.
Declaration of site interest

2.12

Interest in the development of one or more potential sites in the EHMA will not
preclude Membership of the Panel. However, where such an interest exists
either as the controller of land, or with an option to purchase, or as agent for a

5

Inappropriate conduct may be deemed to have occurred: where a Panel Member has failed
to declare an interest in one or more sites at the time of the Assessment; where a Panel
Member may have misused its privileged position or knowledge of identified sites prior to the
publication of the HELAA; or where Panel Members have been found to have colluded
towards the successful inclusion of one or more sites in a publis hed HELAA.

page 31

landowner then this interest must be declared to the Panel. Where a Panel
Member declares an interest in one or more potential sites it may continue to
provide advice on the developability and deliverability of these sites for the
purpose of the preparation of the HELAA.
Consideration of which sites are to be included in the HELAA
2.13

Each Panel Member will provide advice and opinions to the partner
authority/ies on which identified potential sites for new housing and/or
economic development should be included in the deliverable or developable
land supply. This will be based on the initial assessment of the “suitability”
and “availability” of identified potential sites undertaken by the partner
authority/ies and the Panel Member’s assessment of the “achievability” of
each site.

2.14

The partner authority/ies will consider the advice and opinions of all Panel
members when making its/their final assessment of identified sites. The
partner authority/ies will attach the appropriate weight to such advice and
opinions, relative to other evidence and considerations. Final assessment of
sites and their inclusion in a published HELAA will be the responsibility of
each partner authority/ies.

2.15

To ensure that publication of a HELAA is practicable in accordance with a
timetable agreed between the partner authority/ies and the Panel, the partner
authority/ies may still make a final assessment of sites where one or more
Panel Members have been unable to undertake and / or complete their
assessments in a timely manner, or where one or more Panel Members are
unable to attend a Panel meeting.

2.16

Where elements of the assessment for a site are incomplete, the partner
authorities may consider the merits for the inclusion of such sites in the
published HELAA. In such instances the partner authority/ies will have regard
to whether “missing” information would fundamentally preclude the
deliverability and developability of a site, and whether this could reasonably
be expected to be resolved at a later stage in the plan making or development
control decision making processes.

2.17

Panel Members will provide advice and opinions to the partner authority/ies
on the understanding that:
The assessment of sites for new housing through the HELAA process
and the identification of potential housing and employment sites in the
HELAA does not indicate that the sites will be allocated for new
housing within a Local Plan or be granted planning permission. The
HELAA instead forms part of the evidence base to inform plan-making.
Any sites deemed suitable, available and achievable by the HELAA
process will still be subject to public consultation, sustainability
appraisal and independent examination if they are taken forward
through the Local Plan preparation process. However, the HELAA may
be a material consideration in the determination of planning proposals.

page 32

Administrative support and publication of the HELAA
2.18

The partner authority/ies will be responsible for providing administrative
support to the Panel for the purpose of recording notes of meetings and
preparing draft documents in relation to the HELAA where these are
necessary.

2.19

Each partner authority will be responsible for publishing the HELAA(s)
covering its planning administrative area on its website and making this
publicly available.

page 33

3.0 Terms of Reference
Purpose
3.1

The Terms of Reference set out the vision, objectives, scope (roles and
responsibilities) and deliverables for the Panel. These may be defined in or
draw from the Methodology.
Vision

3.2

The Panel will play a key role in advising on the preparation of HELAAs in the
EHMA. HELAA will inform future housing and economic development in the
EHMA in the context of a spatial planning policy framework and sustainable
development objectives. The Panel will be representative of key industry and
agency stakeholders in housing and economic development. To achieve a
successful outcome, the Panel will work towards this vision:

“To serve as an advisory body to the
authorities in the Exeter Housing Market Area,
in the process of preparing HELAAs.”

Objectives
3.3

The Panel will have the following objectives:
i.

To provide advice and opinions on the deliverability and developability
of identified sites in an efficient and timely manner to enable the
completion of HELAAs in accordance with the timescales agreed with
each partner authority.

ii.

To add value to the HELAA process through the skills, expertise and
knowledge of each of the Panel Members.

Scope (roles and responsibilities)
3.4

The roles and responsibilities of the Panel will be:
i. To act as an independent body appointed by the Steering Group for the
partner authorities that is representative of key stakeholders in the
EHMA, for the sole purpose of the preparation of HELAA in the EHMA.
ii. To consider and give advice on whether the Methodology and the
Constitution and Terms of Reference will provide the basis for a

page 34

partnership approach in respect of the Government’s Planning Practice
Guidance6.
iii. To consider and give advice on the final wording of the Methodology for
preparing HELAAs in the EHMA for publication by the partner
authorities 7.
iv. To consider and give advice and opinions on the initial assessments
undertaken by the partner authority/ies of the “suitability” and
“availability” of potential sites for housing and economic development in
its/their planning administrative area/s.
v. To assess the “achievability” of potential sites for housing and economic
development which are being assessed for the purpose of each HELAA.
This will essentially be a judgement about the economic viability of each
site, and the capacity of a developer to complete and let or sell the
development over a certain period8 – being affected by market, cost and
delivery factors. Each Panel Member will have regard to relevant
published documents and draw from their own experience in giving a
view on the “achievability” of each potential development site.
vi. To consider and give advice and opinions on, and ‘sign-off’, the HELAA
prior to its consideration and approval by the partner authority/ies.
vii. To optionally undertake any other tasks identified and agreed with the
Steering Group and / partner authorities for the purpose of preparing
HELAA in the EHMA.
Deliverables
3.5

The Panel will facilitate the delivery of HELAA in the EHMA by giving advice
and opinions on the deliverability and developability of identified potential
sites for housing and economic development to the partner authorities.
National policy, Practice Guidance and Methodology background

3.6

Each HELAA shall be prepared in accordance with the requirements placed
through the National Planning Policy Framework, the Government’s Planning
Practice Guidance and the Methodology.

6

Planning Practice Guidance: Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessments (July
2019) Department for Communities and Local Government, paragraph 3-007.
7 The Panel will need to consider whether the Methodology fully accords with the National
Planning Policy Framework and the Government’s Planning Practice Guidance. It will need to
consider amendments suggested by the Steering Group and may suggest revisions to
wording.
8 Paragraph 3-020, Planning Practice Guidance: Housing and Economic Land Availability
Assessments (July 2019) Department for Communities and Local Government.

page 35

Annex 1: Membership and role of the Panel in the preparation of the HELAA and Methodology in the EHMA

Panel

Achievability, and Deliverable / Developable Sites

Steering Group

Give advice and opinions on the “achievability”, and initial assessment of the
“suitability” and “availability” of identified sites to assist the partner authorities in
determining deliverable and developable sites for housing and economic development
and for the inclusion of these sites in the HELAA

page 36

Prepare Draft
Methodology and
publish final
Methodology in the
light of advice from the
Panel.

Final assessment of identified sites /
prepare draft HELAA and consider
advice and opinions of the Panel on this.
Approve and publish final HELAA

Partner Authority

Availability

Suitability

Initial assessment through
consultation - Potential Housing
and Economic Development
Site Pro Forma returns

Initial assessment through Site
Suitability Appraisal Pro Forma

Annex 2
Selection Requirements and Process for Panel Membership for representatives of the house
and economic development industries
Eligibility
The candidate will need to be actively engaged in the development of land for housing
and/or economic development in the EHMA, for example as a land agent (national or local)
or developer (i.e. volume or small scale developer), registered provider of affordable
housing, architect, planner or urban designer or other related profession that may usefully
inform the assessment of potential sites for housing and/or economic development.
Composition
The Panel must be representative of the broad cross section of the house and economic
development industries in the EHMA. The partner authorities will seek to achieve a balance
in the professions / nature of business undertaken by Panel members. The Panel will
include at least one of the following:












National volume house builder
Regional house builder
Small scale house builder
Developer of student accommodation
Developer of elderly persons accommodation
Professional with knowledge and/or experience of developing sites for the Gypsy and
Traveller community
Employment site developer
Land Agent representing the housing development industry
Land Agent representing the economic development industry
Registered provider of affordable housing involved in new build projects
Architect, urban designer, planner or other professional

Process
The selection process for making an offer of appointment will be undertaken by the Steering
Group with the aim of achieving an optimal mix of Members across the EHMA.
The Steering Group will make an offer of appointment in writing to each candidate for Panel
Membership. It will require a written confirmation of acceptance from each candidate.
Where a candidate declines to confirm their acceptance of Panel membership, or where a
Panel member elects to leave the Panel, the Steering Group will select an appropriate
alternative candidate. The Steering Group will make an offer of appointment in writing to the
selected candidate and will require a written confirmation of acceptance of Panel
membership from the candidate.

page 37

Agenda Item 9
Report to:

Strategic Planning Committee

Date of Meeting 07 September 2021
Document classification: Part A Public Document
Exemption applied: None
Review date for release N/A
The Emerging New Local Plan and the Relationship with Neighbourhood Plans - Update
Report summary:
This paper reports back on actions agreed at Strategic Planning Committee on 22 nd June 2021
further to the report of the same title. This relates to progress in researching the content of
neighbourhood plans and a proposed Communications Plan to be used to manage consultation
and engagement with Neighbourhood Planning communities. Both of which are to be used to
inform the development of the new Local Plan. The report also takes the opportunity to update
members on developments in neighbourhood planning since the June paper was discussed.
Is the proposed decision in accordance with:
Budget

Yes ☒ No ☐

Policy Framework

Yes ☒ No ☐

Recommendation:
(1) That Committee note the development of a database of neighbourhood plan policies
and it’s use as a means of reviewing and analysing our suite of made and emerging
neighbourhood plans and advise of any particular topic area or questions they wish
to see investigated using this new tool to inform the development of the new Local
Plan.
(2) That Committee consider, comment on and recommend the use of the proposed
Communications Plan for engagement with neighbourhood planning groups
throughout the process to develop the new Local Plan, and advise if and how
members should be directly involved.

Reason for recommendation:
To assist with discharging our statutory duty as Local Planning Authority to assist communities in
the preparation and modification of neighbourhood development plans, including to consider the
relationship between the emerging Local Plan, emerging neighbourhood plans, and the adopted
development plan. In particular, to inform work and resource planning throughout the
development of the new Local Plan in respect of the extent and type of engagement with
neighbourhood planning bodies/groups.
Officer: Angela King, Neighbourhood Planning Officer: AKing@eastdevon.gov.uk; 01395 571740
Portfolio(s) (check which apply):
☐ Climate Action and Emergencies
☐ Coast, Country and Environment

page 38

☐ Council and Corporate Co-ordination
☐ Culture, Tourism, Leisure and Sport
☒ Democracy and Transparency
☐ Economy and Assets
☐ Finance
☒ Strategic Planning
☐ Sustainable Homes and Communities
Equalities impact Low Impact
.
Climate change Low Impact
Risk: Medium Risk; As per the previous linked SPC report, there are reputational risks for the
Council arising from potential damage to the trust/relationship that has been built between the
District Council and our neighbourhood planning communities over many years through our
support for neighbourhood planning, if the Council does not, and/or is not seen to, be giving
neighbourhood plans due regard in the development of the new Local Plan. There are also risks
relating to the ability of communities to make plans which influence and guide development in their
areas and to the value of those in future decision making if the relationship between the new Local
Plan and neighbourhood plans is not clear.
Links to background information The Localism Act; Plain English Guide to the Localism Act;
National Planning Policy Framework (2021); National Model Design Code; National Planning
Practice Guidance on Neighbourhood Planning (2020); Neighbourhood Planning Regulations;
Neighbourhood Planning Roadmap Guide; East Devon Neighbourhood Planning webpages; June
2021 Strategic Planning Committee Paper on Neighbourhood Planning (see pages 156 – 169);
Neighbourhood Planning July Update; Neighbourhood Plan database – working draft
Link to Council Plan:
Priorities (check which apply)
☒ Outstanding
☒ Outstanding
☒ Outstanding
☒ Outstanding

Place and Environment
Homes and Communities
Economic Growth, Productivity, and Prosperity
Council and Council Services

Report in full

1. Update on Neighbourhood Planning Activity and the Changing National
Picture
1.1 Neighbourhood planning continues to be very active in the district. Since the last report to
this Committee in June, a further three Neighbourhood Plans have been made (adopted),
and two more have proceeded to independent examination. Several neighbourhood plans
are also likely to be formally submitted to East Devon District Council before the end of the
calendar year, having completed formal (‘Regulation 14’) stage consultation. In addition,
there has been interest expressed from a couple of communities who have not previously
embarked on a neighbourhood plan to starting this process.
1.2 There have also been changes in the national framework within which neighbourhood
planning operates, with an updated National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the
launch of the National Model Design Code in July. This has re-affirmed, and added to, the
page 39

role of, and expectation on, neighbourhood plans/neighbourhood planning groups.
Specifically, neighbourhood planning is to now give “particular” consideration to allocating
small and medium sized sites suitable for housing in their area, and to take an active role in
the development of design codes to improve design quality. This is another change in
circumstances for our neighbourhood planning communities, in addition to the preparation
of a new Local Plan, and with the Planning Bill expected to bring in further changes to the
planning system in the autumn. Support is clearly needed from the District Council to
assist communities to consider and respond as the situation evolves, to ensure the ongoing relevance of our neighbourhood plans.
2. Relationship with work on the emerging new Local Plan
2.1 As reported regularly to this Committee, work has continued to progress on evidence
gathering for the emerging new Local Plan. At the same time, it has been established
through recent independent examinations on neighbourhood plans, that the emerging Local
Plan is still at too early a stage for it to be considered in any meaningful way by the
Examiner, beyond acknowledging that the work is underway.
2.2 Neighbourhood plans therefore continue to be tested entirely for conformity with the
adopted East Devon Local Plan 2013-2031. However, as the evidence base for the new
Local Plan emerges and the draft strategy becomes clearer, there will increasingly need to
be a consideration of the relationship. The June 2021 Committee paper (see Background
Papers) provided a detailed explanation of the relationship between neighbourhood plans
and the adopted and emerging local plan.
2.3 The Planning Policy team, through our dedicated Neighbourhood Planning Officer, is
seeking to communicate with all communities engaged in neighbourhood planning
regarding the work on the new local plan. Further to the feedback received to the Local
Plan Issues and Options consultation and the discussion held with neighbourhood planning
communities via Zoom in May, they have been primarily kept informed by email, sent to
parish clerks and neighbourhood planning steering group leads. The July update, for
example, outlined current work areas and opportunities to contribute, as well as advising of
other related matters relevant to neighbourhood planning more generally, including the
updated NPPF.
2.4 There have been limited opportunities so far to participate as the Local Plan work is at an
early stage. However, just recently, we have encouraged our neighbourhood planning
communities to engage in an exercise to check the data we hold on the existence of local
community facilities and services. This was further to the July SPC paper on the Role and
Function of Settlements.
2.5 Overall, there is a recognition from the previous discussion at June Committee and
feedback from neighbourhood planning communities, that further engagement with our
neighbourhood planning communities and a clear understanding of their aspirations as
expressed through neighbourhood plans is important. To this end, work has progressed to
develop both a database of all neighbourhood plan policies and a draft Communications
Plan for managing communication with neighbourhood planning communities throughout
the Local Plan preparation.
3. Research into our Neighbourhood Plans
3.1 New staff within the planning policy team have led work on the development of a new
interactive database containing a headline policy summary, by theme, of all twenty-three
‘made’ neighbourhood plans in the district, and a tab for each plan, containing the full
page 40

wording of all policies they contain. The database can be interrogated quickly and simply
to identify policies across all neighbourhood plans relating to particular matters. This has
multiple uses and audiences.
3.2 The primary intended use of the new database is to aid drawing on, and taking account, of
what our neighbourhood plans say, in the development of the new Local Plan. Specifically:
(a) to facilitate and inform evidence gathering and shaping of policy across topic work
for the new Local Plan;
(b) assisting in early identification of potential conflicts between our made
neighbourhood plans and our emerging Local Plan, and;
(c) facilitating identification of areas where neighbourhood plans might be plugging
gaps in current Local Plan policy.
3.3 The tool is also expected to be useful for those engaged in neighbourhood planning,
potential developers and decision makers. Neighbourhood planning contacts have been
asked to check the content of the database for accuracy and subject to any alterations
required or concerns raised by SPC, it is proposed that the tool be made available
publically via the neighbourhood planning pages of our website.
3.4 It is recognised that there are some limitations in the database:
(a) the policies contained in neighbourhood plans in isolation do not give the full flavour
of the intent of these plans or the wishes of the community.
(b) There are many more policies in advanced emerging neighbourhood plans that are
not currently included and will need to be given due consideration.
3.5 To address these matters, the database provide links to the full neighbourhood plan
documents for more information, and it is planned to add the policy content from emerging
plans in the near future, as a further phase of the work. In addition, work is underway
simultaneously to increase the degree to which content of neighbourhood plans is available
to planning policy (and development management) officers available on the Council’s
mapping system. Alongside this, work to collate and analyse neighbourhood plan visions,
aims and objectives is also in progress.
3.6 Early headlines from the interrogation of the neighbourhood planning database have found
that:
(a) Policies within plans fit into these broad themes: Environmental (including
landscape); Housing; Economy/Employment; Infrastructure; Accessibility &
Transportation; Community & Health, and; Design & Heritage. A few plans cover
other topics specific to their local circumstance e.g. Beer NP has a chapter on
maritime.
(b) Common topics for policies include:
i.

ii.
iii.
iv.

Support for smaller homes (1 to 3 bedroom maximum) (including to support
affordable homes for young people, adaptable local homes for older people
wishing to downsize);
Support for small scale housing development (typically no more than 10
dwellings);
Extensive policies related to ensuring sufficient car parking provision
(particularly off-road);
Protection and enhancement of rights of way (walking & cycling routes) to
increase accessibility;
page 41

v.
vi.
vii.

Protecting and enhancement of community facilities (including recreational
facilities),
Protection, and where possible enhancement, of the environment, particularly
in respect of trees and landscape setting, and;
Securing infrastructure to ensure provision/better internet connectivity.

(c) Opportunity to designate Local Green Spaces (LGS): Offered through the
NPPF, this has been taken up in many areas. LGS adds to the green spaces
protected by national or local designations and is currently found in 14 made/nearly
made plans.
(d) Nature of plans – whilst the majority of plans are generally protectionist in nature,
there are 4 plans which have allocated sites for housing, and others supporting
limited development to that provided for in the Local Plan, such as within gardens.
There are also a number of emerging plans likely to do similar.
3.7 It is intended that the database remains a live tool, updated as new plans are made, and
which will be used in both a proactive and reactive way to inform the user what
neighbourhood plans say.
4. Communication and Engagement with Neighbourhood Planning
Communities
4.1 Members should be aware that there is limited time available for extensive engagement
with neighbourhood planning groups within the current Local Plan timetable (beyond the
statutory consultation), due to the aim to secure adoption of the new Plan at the earliest
possible date. However, it is considered that there are opportunities to undertake some
meaningful engagement, alongside regular communication to keep our neighbourhood
planning groups well informed of the emerging Local Plan work.
4.2 It should also be recognised that, as made neighbourhood plans form part of the statutory
development plan, the onus is on us to a large extent to consider the impact on and
relationship with neighbourhood plans throughout, and use professional judgement in
seeking to balance any competing requirements. The database outlined above is one tool
we can use to seek to do this. We also intend including a section in each Strategic
Planning Committee paper related to the emerging Local Plan on ‘implications for
neighbourhood plans’ as standard from now onwards. This will help ensure the matter is
considered in every aspect and at every stage of plan preparation.
4.3 It is important to recognise that in the vast majority of subject areas under the Local Plan,
there is an interest/stake by all communities, not only those who have so far/intend to
engage in neighbourhood planning. Therefore any communication and engagement needs
to be considered in this wider context. For example, the call for communities to check and
verify the information we hold on community facilities went out to all Parish Council’s, but
was also shared separately with all neighbourhood planning groups, to make them aware
and enable them to feed into this. Similarly, events/webinars organised further to the
implementation of the proposed Communications Plan for Neighbourhood Planning may in
some cases be appropriate to be widened out to town and parish councils across the
district.
4.4 Furthermore, whilst the content of the emerging new Local Plan as a whole is relevant to
neighbourhood planning, it is particularly matters to do with the distribution and type of
development that are of most interest and concern at the community level, and it follows
that these areas should be the focus of our efforts. In planning communication and
page 42

engagement with neighbourhood planning groups, it is also important to take account of the
fact they are primarily led by volunteers and their time is limited and valuable.
4.5 As well as on-going communication through various means (email, newsletters, website
updates) led by our Neighbourhood Planning Officer, you will see that the Communications
Plan proposes approximately quarterly webinars, from the autumn (most likely around
October/November this year) – including but not limited to those engaged in neighbourhood
planning. It is proposed that the first be focussed on the topic of settlement boundaries and
hierarchy. It is envisaged that a further webinar could take place in January regarding the
draft plan, with additional engagement as required perhaps through focus groups or
discussions with individual neighbourhood plan communities most affected, in the work
between January and March next year to finalise the consultation draft. During the live
consultation (May/June 2022), as well as promoting the opportunity to respond direct to
neighbourhood planning groups, a further webinar could be held to present the plan and
hold a ‘Q&A’ session, with the intention of facilitating neighbourhood planning communities
in considering and responding to it.
4.6 Reports back to Strategic Planning Committee would be made at appropriate points
throughout. It is also proposed that communication and engagement be monitored and
evaluated regularly to assess its reach and effectiveness, and this, together with the
evolving Local Plan work programme and timeline, Strategic Planning Committee
discussions, and objectives of the Communications Plan, would be used to plan
appropriate activity going forward through to post-adoption of the new Local Plan. In any
case, a webinar once a quarter is proposed as a reasonable target and an appropriate
interval to provide/offer meaningful updates and discussions.
4.7 Members views on the proposed Communications Plan as a whole to inform a fi nal version
to be implemented by the Planning Policy team (within existing resources) as the work on
the emerging Local Plan progresses are sought.

Financial implications:
Central Government funding is available for Neighbourhood plans. This income covers not only
examination fees but also all other associated costs such as employment and all other supplies
and services. Any residual funds are placed into an earmarked reserve and utilised to cover
funding gaps in subsequent years.
Legal implications:
There are no legal implications other than as set out within the report.

page 43

Neighbourhood Planning and the new Local Plan
Communications Plan
Draft August 2021
Version 0.3
Author: Angela King, Neighbourhood Planning Officer

page 44

Background/Purpose
Neighbourhood planning is particularly advanced and active in East Devon. There is a strong level of interest and take up from our
communities, encouraged and supported by East Devon District Council since the opportunity to make neighbourhood plans (NPs) was
introduced through the Localism Act 2011.
Neighbourhood Plans are designed to give communities (typically at town/parish council level) greater influence and control over the nature
and shape of development in their areas. Neighbourhood Plans once ‘made’ (adopted) become part of the statutory development plan and
therefore are used, alongside the Local Plan, to help determine planning applications.
Neighbourhood Plans need to broadly conform to strategy and strategic policies of the overarching Local Plan, but ca n add to it with specific
local context and requirements. This includes the allocation of land for development, the protection of land through local designations
(including for green spaces and heritage assets), and the setting of non-strategic planning policies.
page 45

At time of writing, there are now a total of 23 ‘made’ plans in East Devon, and approximately a further 10-12 actively advancing through the
process. There has also been increased interest recently from a number of other communities who have yet to commence NPs, or have stalled
in the process, linked in part to the knowledge that a new Local Plan is being developed.
Given that all NPs have been developed under the existing adopted Local Plan for East Devon (2016-2031), and have been tested at
examination for conformity with it, there are potentially significant implications arising from the decision to commence work on a new Local
Plan.
NPs are community-led and involve a significant amount of volunteer time, usually over many years. They also involve a considerable amount
of community consultation and are ratified by local referendums giving them a democratic status, and a high profile in the community. Once
adopted, the new Local Plan will take precedence over made NPs, in so far as there is a conflict between the two.
The initial Issues and Options Consultation on the Local Plan provided a significant level of feedback that NPs should be fully taken into account
in the development of the new Local Plan, and that NP groups and communities should be engaged throughout the process. Although
concerns were raised from some (particularly from within the development industry) about the weight that should be given to NPs, particularly
if they have not provided for any development, overall it is clear that the new Local Plan, as the higher tier strategic plan, will need to set an
evidence-based development strategy unencumbered by individual NPs. However, any potential conflicts should be identified early and
solutions found as far as possible.

In June 2021, Strategic Planning Committee agreed that a Communications Plan was needed to manage this process of engagement with NP
groups (NPGs). This document has been informed by the plan timetable for the Local Plan, which is compressed (with Plan adoption scheduled
for early 2024), as well as feedback from NPGs on how best to engage with them.
It should also be noted in terms of context, that the Local Plan and NPs must be in general conformity with the National Planning Policy
Framework, which itself has just been revised in July 2021, simultaneously with the launch of a new National Model Design Code. This has
emphasised the role of NPs/NPGs in both the development of design codes - working with the Local Authority -, and in identifying sites for
housing development. The national situation is expected to shift further during the timescale of producing the new Local Plan, with the
Planning Bill due to be announced in the autumn of 2021.

page 46

Aims and Objectives
Aim
To ensure Neighbourhood Planning Groups are well informed about, and are able to engage meaningfully in, the development of the new
Local Plan for East Devon, leading to a Local Plan (LP) which furthers and empowers neighbourhood planning in the district, minimises
unnecessary conflict between the Local Plan and neighbourhood plans and the need for additional work for NPGs.

Objectives

page 47

1. Providing timely information, at the earliest opportunity, to NP Groups/Leads on the work to develop the new LP for East Devon, with
clarity about the steps involved, the current state of play, timescales, and the opportunities to engage.
2. To facilitate an open two-way dialogue between the LPA and NPG’s/Leads regarding the content of the new LP and the relationship
with NPs, which maintains and builds trust, understanding and mutual respect;
3. To assist the LPA in understanding and taking account of the wishes of NP communities and the evidence-base provided by NPs in the
formulation of LP strategy and policy, and progression of related topic-based work.
4. To identify and act in a timely fashion upon opportunities where consultation and engagement with NPGs on matters related to the
new LP would add value and better inform the work.
5. To support the early identification of potential conflicts between the emerging LP and our made/advanced NPs, and facilitate a
constructive and collaborative way forward.
6. To support and guide communities in progressing neighbourhood planning working in the context of an adopted and emerging LP,
through the transition to the new adopted Local Plan, and beyond (including sharing of evidence base and support with plan reviews)
7. To facilitate networking and sharing of good practice and experience between NP groups in East Devon.
8. To maintain and strengthen the role and function of NP’s across East Devon to positively influence development in their areas.
9. To conform to and further the Consultation Strategy and Statement of Community Involvement, and the evidence/audit trail for the LP
examination.
10. Fulfil our statutory duty to support and guide communities through the NP process including to navigate the relationship with an
emerging LP.

Scope
This Communications Plan is specific to guiding and managing the relationship between NPs and the emerging LP. Topics covered and actions
taken will often also be relevant to communities who are not currently engaged in neighbourhood planning. Therefore, whilst the focus is on
neighbourhood planning groups it would be expected that invites for webinars and events etc. would be extended to town or parish councils
of areas not covered by a neighbourhood planning group, as appropriate. Furthermore, although there is overlap, this is not a
Communications Plan for the wider on-going work to promote and support NP in the District.

Key Messages
page 48






Acknowledging and valuing the hard work that goes into NPs
Be realistic and constructive – demonstrating a willingness to work transparently and constructively with NPGs, including being realistic
about where LP strategy & policy may need to depart from what a NP says, based on the latest available evidence and managing
expectations regarding the extent to which we can engage without any extension to the plan making timetable
Being clear throughout that any comment/opinion provided by officers of EDDC, including from the Planning Policy team, at any stage
is the informal view/opinion of that officer at that particular time given in good faith, and is in no way binding on subsequent
consideration by that or any other officer, or on formal decisions taken by, the Council.

Key Audiences
There are many stakeholders and interested parties in NP in East Devon. However, for the scope of this Communications Plan, the primary
audience is Neighbourhood Planning Groups and Leads which include Parish Councils (PCs) as ‘Qualifying Bodies’ (via Clerks and engaged
Councillors).
Within this, there are effectively three main audiences:
1. Communities with ‘made’ plans

2. Communities with emerging plans
Often communities with ‘made’ plans discontinue their NP Steering Group (NPG) and so Parish Council’s (PCs) are the only/main point of
contact in those cases. This may mean some duplication in communication regarding the Local Plan as Parish Council’s across the district will
be contacted about the work at various times too. Furthermore, as referred to under ‘Scope’, we will also engage with Parish Councils through
this work who do not have and/or do not intend to produce neighbourhood plans as appropriate, including those who have not moved further
than designation of a NP area. It is therefore important for the NP Officer to be aware of, link up with and promote those wider
communications in implementing this plan.
Individual officers of the Planning Policy team, including but not limited to the Neighbourhood Planning Officer, will be engaged in liaising with
NPGs / PCs, and leading the implementation of this plan, with assistance as required from officers from other teams/departments, including
Development Management, Conservation, Landscape, Housing, Economic Development etc.
page 49

EDDC Local Members may also be engaged in liaising with them where they represent communities active in neighbourhood planning and/or
are on Strategic Planning Committee.
The wider audience of the residents, businesses and other stakeholders represented in NP communities and statutory consultees who have an
interest in neighbourhood planning may also be contacted/engaged as appropriate but are not the primary audience for this plan.

3. Communities considering preparing a neighbourhood plan
Some areas of the district have made little or no progress towards a neighbourhood plan but they should not be excluded from this work as
they may be looking to produce a neighbourhood plan in the future and by engaging them via their town or parish council in this work we
could help them to understand the role of a neighbourhood plan and the relationship with the emerging local plan and encourag e them to get
more involved in neighbourhood planning.

Risks and Mitigation Considerations:
1. There are reputational risks for the Council arising from potential damage to the trust/relationship that has been built between the
District Council and our neighbourhood planning communities over many years through our support for neighbourhood planning, i f the
Council does not, and/or is not seen to, be giving neighbourhood plans due regard in the development of the new Local Plan.
2. There are also risks relating to the ability of communities to make plans which influence and guide development in their area s and to
the value of those in future decision making if the relationship between the new Local Plan and neighbourhood plans is not cl ear.
These risks above are mitigated by the existence and active implementation of this plan.
3. There is also a risk that communities who do not have and/or to do intend to develop a neighbourhood plan could be seen as
disadvantaged by this plan. This will be mitigated by close working between officers leading on the Local Plan and the Neighbourhood
Planning Officer, and extending invite to the wider audience as appropriate.
page 50

4. Risk of impact on the Local Plan timetable which is focussed on delivering a new Local Plan as soon as is practicable, and by end
2023/early 2024. Greater degrees of engagement with NP communities could require more time and members views on this should be
sought.

Key Milestones/Triggers for Neighbourhood Plan Communications & Engagement Activity:
With reference to the LP timetable:
Stage
1. Issues and Options
(I&O) Consultation

Timing
Jan to
March 21

page 51

2. Call for Sites

Jan to
March 21

Communications Undertaken/Proposed
 Notification of consultation sent to all statutory
consultees including all PC’s
 Notification forwarded to all active NP contacts
(PC’s and NPGs)
 Included an open question in the I&O consultation
regarding relationship with NPs.
 Organised an initial webinar with NP contacts to
discuss in May 2021.
 Used all of the above to inform a paper to SPC (20th
June 2021 meeting) which affirmed importance of
NPs and working with NPGs, and agreed to produce
this Communications Plan and undertake & report
on research into NP content.
 Feedback undertaken via Snap on the webinar
included preferred methods of engagement going
forwards.





Included within above notifications.
Link to HELAA /Call for Sites information on our
website shared with NP contacts with webinar notes
(June 2021)
Options to engage in site allocation process ahead
TBC

Response
Very few responses to the
notification email but good level of
comment on the I&O consultation
(c.650 responses) including from
NPGs, PCs and individuals with an
interest in NPs.
Good attendance at webinar - over
20 communities

13 responses to Snap Survey,
generally wanted more of this type
of engagement.

At least one NPG submitted sites
under this call

Stage
3. Topic based work to
inform draft plan
preparation, with series
of topic papers going to
SPC

Timing
On-going
(to Dec
21+)
Monthly
officer
team
meetings
Monthly
SPC
meetings

page 52

Communications Undertaken/Proposed
 Suggested all SPC papers going forward to include a
standard heading for ‘Implications for
Neighbourhood Planning’.
 Key paper 20th July SPC on Role and Function of
Settlements.
 Email from Planning Policy officers to all Parish
Councils 23 July 2021 asking for verification of data
held on community facilities
 Ensure regular (monthly) updates from
Neighbourhood Planning Officer as a minimum.
o July 2021 - 3-sides A4 update document sent
by email to all NP contacts 28/07/21 to:
advise of where LP had got to; links to Role &
Function of Settlements paper & related SPC
discussion; notification/reminder about the
community facilities/services data
verification request; note of possible
forthcoming SPC papers & heads up on the
new National Planning Policy Framework &
National Model Design Code
o August 21 update – expected to include
September SPC agenda
 Engagement going forward to be scoped out with
Member feedback from September SPC meeting
and in dialogue with LP topic leads. Webinar
proposed on topic of settlement boundaries autumn
21.

Response

X No. responses received by
deadline of 13/08/21
For information only – but only 2
responses by way of reply so
difficult to assess value. Keep future
updates shorter (max 2 sides)

Timing

4. Draft Plan document
(initial high level draft)

By Dec 21

5. Draft agreed by SPC

By April 22

The period between a likely high-level and flexible
document being produced by Dec 2021 and a draft for
consultation by April 2022 is seen as a key if short
opportunity to test out the strategy and policy direction
with NPGs (as well as other communities). This could
include a series of webinars as well as specific meetings
with individual communities most affected. Other
possibilities suggest ‘Planning for Real’ type exercises in
respect of development site allocations/choices could
be considered but the impact on the plan making
timetable could be significant.

6. Draft LP consultation

May - June
22

Notification to all statutory consultees by email – will
include all PCs
NP Officer to share/promote this to all NP contacts
(NPGs & PCs)
As above, potential to run a webinar to present the
draft plan and to have 1:1 meetings with communities
most affected.

page 53

Stage

Communications Undertaken/Proposed
 Use of NP database to identify any potential
conflicts with NPs to discuss – contact individual
groups / all affected as necessary
It will be important to ensure that NPGs have an
opportunity to review the initial draft in the run up to
the Dec SPC meeting and can give initial feedback either
at the meeting as part of public speaking arrangements
or via ward members.

Response

Stage
Timing
7. ‘Wash-up’ from above & July – Sept
progression of
22
Publication Plan

8. Publication consultation

Communications Undertaken/Proposed
Share / publicise summary feedback to this consultation
with NPGs
Report back to SPC on key messages coming from
neighbourhood planning groups though the
consultation.
Continue to support individual NPs as required to
consider potential implications for their emerging
/made NP.

page 54

Nov/Dec 22 Notification to all statutory consultees by email – will
include all PCs
NP Officer to share/promote this to all NP contacts
(NPGs & PCs)
At or before this stage important to inform groups of
remaining likely implications.

9. Submission/Examination March 23
through to Inspector’s
to Jan 24
report, including public
consultation on
modifications (Oct/Nov
23)

Consultees representations, including NPG’s and others
engaged in/with an interest in NP to be submitted for
consideration by the Inspector. May be called to speak
to hearing and will be notified of consultation as per
earlier rounds.

10. Adoption

Notification to all statutory consultees by email – will
include all PCs
NP Officer to share/promote this to all NP contacts
(NPGs & PCs)

Feb 24

Response

Stage
11. Post-adoption

Timing
Feb 24
onwards

Communications Undertaken/Proposed
Neighbourhood Planning Officer to work to support
NPG’s who wish to update/modify their NPs as a result
of the new Local Plan (n.b. this work may start earlier)

Response

Methods of Communication
Informed by methods used to reach NPGs and the wider audience on the Local Plan, particularly the Issues and Options consultation, wider ongoing communications by Planning Policy team and feedback from the webinar, the following is an assessment of potential methods to reach
and engage the intended audience, highlighting those considered most effective/appropriate:
1
page 55

1a
1b
1c

2
2a

No. Method
Website:

Content on the dedicated ‘emerging Local Plan’
webpage
SPC agendas, papers, minutes and meetings
available on-line via EDDC website
Dedicated NP webpages on the EDDC website.
(Nothing has been posted on here as yet re. the
new LP work)
Direct Emails:
Global emails to notify and consult re. matters
related to the Local Plan sent to all statutory
consultees (from PP database) . Includes NP
communities by including all Parish Council’s

Suitability to reach target audience (H/M/L)
Only suitable in combination with other methods and needs some proactive
notifications (only supported by 25% respondents to webinar feedback
survey)
L (but promote link in all communications)
M-H (but needs proactive engagement to inform on existence of these
papers)
M (add a page related to relationship to new LP with link to 1 & 2 above,
webinar notes etc.)
(supported by 56% respondents to survey)
M (relies solely on Clerks – not all of whom may have been closely engaged in
NPs / to pass on to local NP contacts; also limited opportunity to raise
specific NP matters)

2b

3
3a

page 56

3b

3c

No. Method
Sharing of the above with contacts engaged in NP
by our NP Officer and explaining the relevance
and any general implications, call to action etc.
Newsletters (n.b. can be shared via most emethods in this table):
Planning Policy newsletter (via Granicus /
GovDelivery) including article on NPs – last issued
Jan & Feb 21 at time of I&O consultation. NP
Officer to email out too or ensure all NP contacts
will receive (subject to compliance with data
protection)
EDDC E-newsletter to ALL residents (via Granicus
/ GovDelivery) sent out regularly by EDDC
Communications team
NP newsletter – issued c. 1 per year 2015-2019.
Last sent as 3-side NP news update July 2021 –
could in future use NP newsletter template, issue
as PDF and upload to website, or include NP
article in wider Planning Policy newsletter (see
no.3a above)

4

Events:

4a

Webinars
Initial webinar held May 2021 to discuss the
relationship in general terms between NPs and
the emerging new LP, including formal

Suitability to reach target audience (H/M/L)
H (requires maintenance of up to date contact details/email distribution
list(s)) (in accordance with data protection rules) – see also newsletters
below.
(supported by 56% respondents to survey)
M–H
(good way of communicating with all communities – including NP ones)

L-M (should utilise and include matters relevant to NPs as will reach wider
community audience, but not ideal for engaging NPG groups specifically)
H (low response rate so ask a few if useful and how to improve. Suggest keep
short (2 sides A4) with links for more info)

H (Over 80% (and up to 93%) of respondents to the feedback survey from the
webinar held in May with NPG’s were either very or fairly satisfied with all
aspects of the event and 92% would be either very (67%) or fairly (25% likely
to attend future webinars. The preferred length to be 1.5 to 2 hours and a

No. Method
presentations by Planning Policy team and a
Q&A. Write up of this widely shared on email
with NP contacts, beyond those who attended.

Suitability to reach target audience (H/M/L)
preference for these to continue to be held virtually, and in the evening (i.e.
the format we used was broadly welcomed)
Building on broad success of initial webinar (May 2021) aim to hold these
quarterly going forward – Oct/Nov 21, Jan/Feb 22, April/May 22 and so on.
Need to agree asap what topics and when as needs lead-in time.

page 57

Suggestions from webinar feedback survey in order of popularity:1. Emerging LP strategy (88%)
2. NP review/modification process (75%)
3. Approach to housing (75%) (perhaps incl affordable housing/CLTs,
2nd/holiday homes)
4. Evidence base (56%)
5. Maximising impact of NPs (other)
6. Climate change/carbon neutrality/sustainability matters (other)
As above, suggest could have one to discuss draft plan (before or at start of
consultation) and on Settlement boundaries – Nov 21.
4b

Seminar/workshop in person

5

Focus Groups
(Could be face to face or on line)

6

Press Releases
General Press Releases relating to the LP – issued
via EDDC Communications team

Only supported by 50% survey respondents (94% supported on-line).
Consider if coronavirus restrictions allow but suggest that webinar generally
preferable in terms of resources (time & travel) and accessibility
M (Both options only supported by 44% respondents)
Would allow for more in-depth discussion but could be seen as exclusive –
keep as an option
One comment that if having focus groups, face to face would be preferable.
L – but useful to update /notify the wider public in NP communities

7

8
8a
8b
9
9a

page 58

No. Method
Social Media
Social Media (FB, Twitter) via EDDC
Communications team
Video
YouTube video e.g. as used to promote the Issues
and Options consultation
SPC can be watched live or recorded via EDDC
YouTube Channel
Via Others
Through Members – SPC committee members /
local members representing NP communities /
possible re-instatement of a ‘Member Champion’
for NP

Suitability to reach target audience (H/M/L)
L – but could increase by promoting the links/feeds in all communications

L – wider comms tool to link to as appropriate
M-H (but needs proactive engagement to inform these papers)

M -member training may be needed. Need to be clear what we are asking
and what form this would take.

9b

Through Parish Clerks – largely covered by email
and newsletters above (n.b. if want to reach
wider communities in NP areas PCs can help –
notice boards, websites, newsletters etc.)

M-H – covered above

9c

Via networks/partner organisations who engage
with NP communities and PCs e.g. Devon
Communities Together newsletter

L – reach uncertain but could increase exposure

10

Direct Contact with individual NPGs
via NP Officer / Planning Policy Team generally

H (Supported by 69% respondents)
Propose to use for NPGs most affected on specific matters and via daily
duties of dedicated NPG but beyond this resourcing would be an issue.

Frequency / Targets
Determine with reference to the LP timetable and SPC Committee schedule.
Only realistically do maximum 1 webinar (or other event) per quarter.
Web updates to be on-going and emails at least monthly and as required.

Resources
There is a dedicated 0.8fte Neighbourhood Planning Officer and an annual NP budget.
It is fully expected that this communications plan could be delivered through existing resources.

Monitoring & Evaluation
page 59

It will be important to keep effectiveness of implementation of this plan under review, including by seeking feedback from NPGs and keeping a
record of everything we do /send etc. (see earlier table above to be added to).
EDDC Communication team could also advice on web hits, YouTube views, social media likes and shares etc. as appropriate.

Abbreviations
CLT – Community Land Trust
HELAA - Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment
I&O – Issues and Options Consultation
LP – Local Plan
NP – neighbourhood planning
NPG – neighbourhood planning groups
page 60

PCs – parish councils
SPC – Strategic Planning Committee

Agenda Item 10
Report to:

Strategic Planning Committee

Date of Meeting 7 September 2021
Document classification: Part A Public Document
Exemption applied: None
Review date for release N/A
Town Centres – Strategic Approach
Report summary:
The current local plan contains a number of policies intended to support the appearance and use
of town centres, ensuring they are vital and viable. A combination of Covid and increased internet
shopping has led to some rapid and significant changes to local Town Centres, in particular a
reduction in retail shopping provision. The government have introduced a range of new permitted
development rights that give much greater flexibility within town centres and reduce the role for
town centre specific local plan polices. Members will need to give consideration as to whether, and
how, planning policy might intervene to reduce further losses in the retail sector. Members will also
be asked to consider the wider role of town centres and whether more flexibility is required to
enable, and perhaps encourage, a wider range of activities, including leisure, housing and
community uses where demand for retail units has fallen.
Is the proposed decision in accordance with:
Budget

Yes ☒ No ☐

Policy Framework

Yes ☒ No ☐

Recommendation:
That Strategic Planning Committee:
1. Recommend that the issues raised in this report are used to inform more detailed
work to be undertaken on the draft plan.
2. Consider each of the elements to town centre policy referred to in paragraph 5.2 of
the report and advise which elements they would in principle support.
Reason for recommendation:
It is important to consider whether it is appropriate to continue to restrict town centre uses to
predominantly retail use or whether more flexibility is required to avoid vacant units. It is also
necessary to consider the character and extent that any protective/restrictive designations should
take.
Officer: Claire Rodway, Senior Planning Officer e-mail - crodway@eastdevon.gov.uk, Tel: 01395
517543
Portfolio(s) (check which apply):
☐ Climate Action and Emergencies
☒ Coast, Country and Environment
☐ Council and Corporate Co-ordination
☒ Culture, Tourism, Leisure and Sport
☐ Democracy and Transparency
page 61

☐ Economy and Assets
☐ Finance
☒ Strategic Planning
☒ Sustainable Homes and Communities
Equalities impact Low Impact
.
Climate change Medium Impact
Risk: Medium Risk; The approach to protecting town centres is a key consideration in the local plan and
they are literally at the heart of our larger sustainable communities. Over the past year our town centres
have experienced a significant reduction in trade and high vacancy rates, appropriate Local Plan policies
may help to reverse this situation. The Local Plan will also set the context for many planning applications
over the lifetime of the plan.

Links to background information National Planning Policy Framework: ,
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmcomloc/1010/1010.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/
1003618/High_Streets_Strategy_accessible_web.pdf
Link to Council Plan:
Priorities (check which apply)
☒ Outstanding
☒ Outstanding
☒ Outstanding
☐ Outstanding

Place and Environment
Homes and Communities
Economic Growth, Productivity, and Prosperity
Council and Council Services

Report in full
1

Introduction

1.1

Town centres are literally at the heart of East Devon communities and are essential to
ensuring that resident’s everyday needs are met as locally as possible. Town centres have
always demonstrated resilience to change, overcoming challenges from increased car
ownership, out of town retail parks, the rise of supermarkets and an increase in online
banking and access to public services, but they now face unprecedented pressure.

1.2

Retailing has for many years been the core activity in town centres but the pandemic, on
top of loss of footfall due to increasing online purchases and slow recovery from the 2008
financial crisis and recession, has led to widespread concern that the future of town centre
shops and facilities, and particularly High Streets, is bleak. This report considers the
current situation in East Devon and the role that the new Local Plan could take. At the time
of writing this report, movement restrictions have very recently been relaxed and it is
difficult to predict the impact that Covid will have in the short, medium and long terms.
Changes have inevitably occurred but the impact on town centre vitality and viability, and
the need for, or type of, intervention which might help with recovery are not yet clear:
Changes to retail behaviour
Lockdowns/non-essential shops closed
Diminished customer experience. Loss of footfall.
High street retail activity collapsing
Virtual High Street
Will shoppers/footfall return?
page 62

Changes to working behaviour
Less commuter footfall in TCs
Reduced spend
Reduced demand for personal services
Reduced demand for business support services
Changes to occupancy & property values
Vacant shops/offices
Drag of historic land holdings
Reality check reset?
Changes to social behaviour
Bars/pubs, theatres/cinemas, gyms, nightclubs, restaurants closing in lockdown. Not
reopening?
Will outdoor hospitality & indoor measures continue?
Will behaviour towards crowded places change?
2

Current Position

2.1

East Devon has nine towns:
•

Axminster;

•

Budleigh Salterton;

•

Colyton;

•

Cranbrook;

•

Honiton;

•

Ottery St Mary;

•

Honiton;

•

Seaton; and

•

Sidmouth.

2.2

Each of these towns supports a town centre (although at Cranbrook the planned centre is
not yet established and so has limited facilities at present. There is currently a
Supplementary Planning Document in production for Cranbrook town centre provision and
a £40m fund is proposed to fund the improvements.) Colyton is the smallest of the East
Devon towns and it has the least facilities of the centres listed. The village of Beer,
although a bit smaller than Colyton, actually supports more shops with a number of these
most likely to be viable on account of the tourist trade that Beer attracts.

2.3

With the exception of Cranbrook, (and to a lesser degree Colyton and Budleigh Salterton)
the town centres of East Devon provide facilities to meet most of the everyday needs of
the resident populations of those towns and of surrounding rural hinterlands. A range of
shops are found in these centres along with supermarkets and a diverse selection of
social and community facilities. Independent shops are comparatively common in East
Devon towns. For much larger sized shops and a bigger selection, as well as major
recreational and cultural venues and such destinations as major sporting facilities,
residents of East Devon would need to leave the District (2019 Avison Young study). If
Members aspiration to increase settlement self-containment is to be met then avoidable
leakage (where residents go outside the District for goods and services which are also
page 63

available more locally) must be addressed and reduced, and the role and function of the
towns reconsidered.
2.4

The role and function of East Devon’s town centres is shifting away from retail uses. The
last ten years has seen the decline of traditional shops selling comparison goods as these
products can often be bought more conveniently online – bulky white goods, electronics,
books and increasingly, fashion and footwear. Nationally town centre footfall has reduced
by about 30% in the past 10 years as shoppers increasingly view items in physical shops
but purchase through the internet. This can be quick and convenient but it reduces the
viability of physical shops and in turn reduces the availability of goods and services to
those without the internet, without electronic banking or without the means to access
alternative out-of-town shops.

2.5

Whilst East Devon’s High Streets are still relatively vibrant (there are fewer vacant units
and more independent shops than the national average 10.3 %- (High Streets and Town
Centres 2030 report
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmcomloc/1010/reportsummary.html ) the traditional anchor town centre uses such as banks, clothing shops and
pubs have closed many outlets. Where vacant shops have been taken over, they are often
filled by cafes and coffee shops and health and beauty businesses – nail salons,
hairdressers, tattoo parlours and barbers – all offering experiences rather than products.
Higher numbers of vacant units and new uses with ‘blank’ frontages or visits by
appointment are unattractive to shoppers and reduce the interest and bustle generated by
diverse window displays enticing passers-by, although by-appointment businesses can be
an excellent way to bring upper floors into use.

2.6

Current policy in the adopted Local Plan aims to ensure that changes of use within the
shopping frontages of town centres take place without undermining their retail function.
The policy recognises that space in shopping frontages can usefully be taken up by nonretail uses. Such uses can add to the variety, attractiveness and economic activity of the
centre, but only so long as they do not concentrate within the primary shopping area so
that the retail character of the immediate area is not undermined and does not deter the
movement of shoppers in a particular direction within the centre.

2.5

Interestingly, though, as restrictions encouraged people to shop more locally there
appears to have been a small but marked increase in demand for high quality, locally
produced food. As restrictions have eased there are early signs that this demand is likely
to continue, albeit this is only likely to require a modest amount of floorspace in each town.
At present this is based on anecdotal evidence but any future retail studies could be asked
to quantify this.

2.6

Over the past 18 months there are noticeably more vacant shops in East Devon’s town
centres. Where vacant shops have been taken over, they are often filled by cafes and
coffee shops and health and beauty businesses, a shift towards offering experiences
(which cannot be provided online) rather than products. Vacant units and new uses with
‘blank’ frontages reduce the interest and bustle generated by diverse window displays,
although by-appointment businesses can be an excellent way to bring upper floors into
use. However, there is the real danger, potentially greatly increased by Covid, that there
will be more vacancies in the future and there just will not be the retail or other commercial
interests to take over occupancy.
page 64

2.7

The current Local Plan contains strategies for each town, including requirements intended
to achieve thriving town centres, and policies E9-E15 which protect existing retail uses
and main shopping frontages, promote shopping and vitality, resist the loss of shops and
services, promote town centre locations for large stores and encourage neighbourhood
and village shops and services. There is also a policy promoting the use of upper floors.

2.8

Members will need to consider the role and approach that a new local plan may take for
our town centres and the degree to which they wish to intervene. One option is that
Members may consider the new Plan should continue to seek to prioritise retail uses,
though recognising that recent Government changes to planning rules now provide far
more flexibility to change to differing commercial activities and residential use.
Alternatively, they may wish to plan to embrace and promote a wide range of commercial
and community activities in town centres in line with the Government proposals below. A
more radical approach could be to do nothing and let the market decide, although this
does risk losing shopping uses (and potentially community/social and recreational uses) in
the town centre altogether.
Government Guidance

2.9

The Government position, even pre-Covid, is that ‘transformation’ is necessary if town
centres are to thrive but the type of intervention required to achieve this will vary from
place to place. Without intervention there are risks:







Loss of high streets’ retail offer/employment
Low incentive to invest
Rundown image & decay
Empty streets
Vacuum, fragmentation, hollowing out
Loss of the heart of places & communities

2.9

In recent years the Government has produced or endorsed a number of proposals for
positive transformation. This started with the Portas Review of 2011, which set a vision for
the future intended to ‘breathe life back into the High Street’. In response to this, in order
to enable the High Street to quickly adapt, addressing the problem of vacancy and
stagnation, changes to the planning system were introduced in 2015 which allowed for
greater flexibility and changes between the use classes as permitted development. This
was followed by ‘Our Plan for the High Street’ as part of the Budget in 2018, which
promised Government funding through the ‘Future High Streets Fund’ in order for High
Streets to focus on users ‘experience’, making them more convenient, acting as a focus
for services and engendering a sense of community.

2.10

The government convened an inquiry in May 2018 to investigate the future of the high
street called “High Streets and Town Centres in 2030”. Although the inquiry acknowledged
the challenging retail environment they did not believe that the high street is dead but that
there is an urgent need for them to adapt, transform and find a new focus. The inquiry
identified 4 systemic issues affecting the high street which can be summarised as follows:
1.

Too much retail space – high streets and town centres have become increasingly
retail focused with it now being widely considered that most towns have too much
retail space to meet current needs.

page 65

2.11

2.

Fragmented ownership – in the past, pension funds and insurance companies owned
shopping centres or whole parts of towns, however they have been reducing their
holdings such that in smaller and medium towns the majority of shops are owned by
individuals and this is seen as a major barrier to a co-ordinated response to change.

3.

Retailers high fixed costs: business rates and rents – These are a significant cost on
bricks and mortar shops that lead to significant overheads making them
uncompetitive on price with internet and out of town retailers who have lower costs.

4.

Business taxation: Again these are much higher for high street retailers with a
comparison with internet retailers showing that business rates amount to
approximately 0.7% of Amazon’s UK turnover compared with 2 – 6% for many high
street retailers.

The inquiry went on to look at the future of high streets and town centres and considered
the work of the Grimsey Review on the ‘Vanishing high street’ which considered that “the
21st century town is about an activity-based community gathering place”. The inquiry
considered that there was a need for high streets and town centres to repurpose
themselves and find the right balance between retailing, leisure, health, social care,
services and residential. Investment in the arts and culture was considered important and
putting town centres at the heart of the community. The inquiry report concludes by
saying:
“We are convinced that high streets and town centres will survive, and thrive in 2030 if
they adapt, becoming activity-based community gathering places where retail is a smaller
part of a wider range of uses and activities. Green space, leisure, arts and culture and
health and social care services must combine with housing to create a space that is the
“intersection of human life and activity” based primarily on social interactions rather than
financial transactions. Individual areas will need to identify the mix that best suits their
specific characteristics, local strengths, culture and heritage. Fundamentally, community
must be at the heart of all high streets and town centres in 2030.”

2.12

The Grimsey Review also includes a section on “What Local Authorities Must Do and
When”. It discusses the importance of place making and putting great importance on the
quality of urban design, public realm and transport connectivity. It then talks about bringing
people back into town centres to live and the importance of having flats over shops to
increase footfall in town centres. A COVID-19 supplement to the Review has been
published which asserts that in order to emerge from this period in better shape we need
to see increased power to local communities, dynamic and collaborative leadership, fewer
streets and a huge expansion in green spaces and squares that puts sustainability and the
environment at the heart of everything and is based in quality of life and experiences.

2.13

In 2019 the High streets and town centres in 2030 (parliament.uk) report helpfully picked
up on the findings of the Grimsey Review and set out a vision for town centres which will
act as:





2.14

Activity-based community gathering places
Retail is a smaller part of a wider mix
Green space, leisure, arts/culture, health & social care services, housing
Space for social & community interactions

The Build Back Better High Streets Paper is the Government’s most recent strategy,
building on the 2019 vision but also considering how high streets and town centres can
adapt and thrive after the COVID-19 pandemic. The plan sets out five key priorities to
page 66

achieve the vision of having “vibrant high streets where communities are at the heart of
place-making; where a mix of commercial and residential uses complement each other;
and where businesses large and small feel welcome.” The plan does not provide any
major new policy steer or resources to support high streets.
The five priorities are:
Breathing new life into empty buildings;


Planning flexibilities around change of use; enabling vacant commercial premises
to be demolished and a new development right to convert empty shops,
restaurants and offices into homes.



£150m community ownership fund to enable communities to take over local
community assets such as pubs, theatres and post offices.



Encouraging councils to use Compulsory Purchase Orders for more effective land
assembly to facilitate growth.



Intention to reform legislative framework to ensure local areas have access to
delivery vehicles to support growth and regeneration.

Supporting High Street businesses;


Commitment in principle to make temporary pavement licence measures
permanent.



12 month extension to temporary permissions for off-sales alcohol



Legislation to ring-fence debt that has been accrued from March 2020 for tenants
who have been impacted by covid-19 business closure



Working with BIDs to improve stakeholder engagement



Hospitality-led regeneration hubs, with demonstrators



Green guide for SME retailers

Improving the public realm;


Focus on accessible and green infrastructure



Manual for Streets to be published in 2022



Government to choose 12 non-London local authorities for intensive investment in
mini-Holland cycle schemes



Local transport authorities being asked to produce Bus Service Improvement
Plans by the end of October

Creating safe and clean spaces;


Litter bin grant scheme



Increased enforcement on litter, graffiti and gum.



New delivery model for probation service focussed on visible community pay back.

Celebrating pride in local communities.


Cultural Investment Fund



Transforming Places Through Heritage programme



Office for Place to be established by MHCLG focussed on design quality within the
planning system.



Local celebrations to be led by local authorities to engage communities and local
high streets.
page 67

2.15

Most of the resources to deliver the ‘place’ centred actions above will come from existing
announcements including Future High Streets Fund, Welcome Back Fund, Community
Ownership Fund, Town Deals and the forthcoming Levelling Up Fund and Community
Renewal Fund.

2.16

There is a nod to encouraging Local Authorities to use Compulsory Purchase powers for
persistently derelict buildings or to progress stalled regeneration schemes. Undertaking
physical regeneration and site assembly in town and city centres has frequently been a
cost prohibitive issue for many Local Authorities – especially if the final uses of any
regeneration have lower end use classes and land values than the previous retail use.

2.17

New permitted development rights have already been put in place to support town centres
with the introduction of the new Class E use class which now allows changes of use
between a wide range of town centre uses without the need for planning permission. Class
E includes the following uses:
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Shops
Professional and financial services
Cafes and restaurants
Offices
Research and development
Light industry
Non-residential institutions such as clinics, day care centres etc.
Assembly and leisure uses such as gyms

2.18

Buildings within Class E can also be changed to dwelling houses up to a floor area limit of
1500sqm and subject to various limitations, conditions and a prior approval process. There
are also now in place permitted development rights that allow the upward extension of
commercial and mixed use buildings by up to 2 storeys to provide flats subject to various
restrictions and a prior approval process.

2.19

These new permitted development rights now significantly limit the control that a Local
Planning Authority has over developments that affect town centres. We therefore need to
understand what actions we can take to support our town centres and high streets within
the current planning system and that starts with a better understanding of the issues at a
local level.
Evidence

2.20

At present up-to-date East Devon specific evidence is lacking although some work is in
progress.








Avison Young undertook a two part retail assessment for the (then proposed)
Greater Exeter Strategic Plan which was published in 2019. Much of this is still
very relevant but the pandemic has impacted upon some retailers and the current
‘health’ of the towns will have changed.
One Public Estate has funded Thriving Town Studies for Axminster and Exmouth
The Future of Towns Study, commissioned by Heart of the South West LEP, has
been commissioned but not yet published.
High Street footfall data & business surveys commissioned by EDDC
Postponement of the Our Towns Study (Dec 2020)
No date yet for study resumption
page 68



As economic turbulence subsides & reliable baseline demand, footfall & projection
data can be developed, aim is: TC assessment is part of evidence base to inform
new Local Plan policy.
Our Towns Study will be in 2021/22 Service Plan as an aspiration


2.21

Ideally, a comprehensive analysis of East Devon towns would be undertaken to inform the
new Local Plan. This could:





Provide up to date retail/commercial use demand data
Take account of government policy changes
Be informed by HoSW & One Public Estate studies, footfall & business surveys
Provide fresh re-examination & approach to explore TC
redevelopment/regeneration
Identify investment/funding opportunities, planning policy options, site
improvements, feasible projects.
Enable seizing opportunities from centrally funded initiatives aimed at
reinvigorating High Street/ TCs




2.22

The introduction of so many permitted development rights that address issues we would
usually seek to control through policy mean it is likely that any local plan policies will need
to take a lighter touch approach to town centre issues. For example primary retail
frontages that previously sought to retain a retail core at the heart of our town centres will
now be redundant as permitted development rights allow a much broader range of uses
without the need for planning permission. There may still be a need for spatial
designations centred around where “Class E” uses take place. There will still be a
significant role for policies that protect town centres from out of town retail and other uses
that undermine their role. It is also considered that policies that seek to encourage certain
uses that support the role of town centres may also be important to include in the plan.
Local Plan policies will need to be justified. This table sets out the evidence that is likely to
be required:
Town Centre Hierarchy- This will be established through the Roles and Functions
of Settlements Study. It is currently proposed that settlements will fall into the
following categories




Tier One – Principal Centre: Exmouth
Tier Two – Main Centre: Honiton, Sidmouth, Axminster, Seaton, Ottery St Mary,
Cranbrook
Tier Three – Local Centre: Budleigh Salterton, Colyton, Broadclyst, Lympstone,
Woodbury
a) The extent of Town
Centres and the role they
fulfil

b) Spatial
designations
Evidence should
include:

Evidence about the
current role and function
of each Town Centre
should include:

Assessing the
future role of
Primary
Shopping Area’s
and whether
they become
“Class E zones”
and if so how

Retail & commercial
leisure trends
Market research –
shopping patterns
Retail market share
page 69

c) Use of
Sequential &
Impact tests
Application of
NPPF sequential
test -are
proposals town
centre, edge of
centre or out of
centre?
For retail use,
edge of centre

Leakage of expenditure
out of district to other
centres

should they be
drawn.

Qualitative Town Centre
health check

Impact of
increasing
flexibility
towards mix of
uses

Quantitative & qualitative
retail needs assessment
(convenience/comparison)

Evidence on the
need for other
uses e.g.
housing; &
evidence to
support site
allocations &
opportunity
zones

Commercial leisure needs
assessment

relates to PSA
boundary
For other main
town centre uses
it relates to Town
Centre boundary.
So evidence
needed to justify
identification of
PSA & Town
Centre
boundaries for
sequential test
purposes.
Local plan is an
opportunity to
establish a local
impact threshold
to manage retail
development
outside of defined
centres
(NPPF#89).
Needs evidence
on:
Scale of
proposals relative
to Town Centre
Existing Town
Centre
viability/Vitality
Cumulative
effects of
developments
Are the Town
Centres
vulnerable
Likely effects on
any Town Centre
strategy
Impact on
planned
investment
Assess whether a
blanket or tiered
threshold is
appropriate to
assess edge of
centre/out of

page 70

centre retail
proposals
2.20

As this is an ongoing, fluid, situation, and will be informed by pieces of work which are
currently outstanding, it is not considered an ideal time to commission a piece of analysis.
In the immediate term, it is proposed that Officers will undertake desk based research to
establish as much of the evidence required as possible. Members can use this information
to consider their policy options in the new plan, for example to determine the extent of the
town centres, any areas to be primarily retail uses and whether land should be allocated
for specific uses.

3

Feedback from the Issues and Options consultation

3.1

The Issues and Options consultation is the most recent evidence that we have. With
regard to the town centre questions, most respondents favoured mixed commercial uses
in town centres, with over half of respondents supporting leisure or community uses and
very little opposition to these. Dominant retail use (as has traditionally been promoted by
policy) received around 30% support and a similar level of opposition. In the written
comments the use of upper floors for services, community activities and housing was
strongly supported and a range of measures suggested to encourage this. A significant
proportion of respondents (around 20%) were opposed to change of use to housing,
although this also received considerable (quantified) support. In the written comments
most concern related to the permanent loss of retail units to housing and the consequent
impact on the retail function of the town centres. Edge-of-centre and first floor residential
use received considerable support. The need for town centres to be vibrant social spaces
was expressed by many respondents. A range of activities, areas to sit and increased
community, health and service uses were seen as a major draw.

3.2

Individual comments included:













The objective should be to build self-sustaining communities for a diverse range of
people/retaining community cohesion and high footfall
Service industries and cafes should be encouraged to improve vitality. If these can
be established above shops that would double the footfall
A strong focus on heritage, culture and the arts to make each town centre special
Plan for social spaces (café’s, gardens, stalls, pop-up shops) to encourage use of
outside areas. Encourage street markets, music, food events to create vitality
Uses at first floor and above should be strongly encouraged- Gyms and leisure
uses, housing and community use
Housing should not dominate but should be integrated to maintain a mix of uses
and reduce vehicle movements/Allow housing on the edge of centres but retain
centre for shopping/services. Only allow housing where adequate facilities
(including parking and outside space) can be provided for the residents.
A split of opinion between it being better to have housing than empty shops and
concern that, once a shop is changed to housing, it is permanently lost.
Retail uses should be promoted in town centres and footfall is still encouraged
despite online shopping. This could include town centre showrooms with goods
available to see/try on before collection/delivery from warehouses, speciality
retailers and goods collection points e.g. for those who aren’t at home to collect
packages.
Greater pedestrianisation (day-time car free streets) and more convenient public
transport
Cheaper business rates, car parking and affordable space for community groups
and arts
page 71






3.3

Promote shared community use- for sports/gyms but also
education/culture/spiritual uses
Potential for seaside towns to be redeveloped, prioritise removing existing
eyesores and establish a coherent character for new development
Rural settlements should not lose existing retail and community facilities.
Need to accept that private cars are inevitable in rural areas
Policy should be flexible so that it can quickly respond to changing circumstances

In addition respondents were invited to comment on additional town centre policy
objectives. Three additional areas were suggested where policies may be appropriate,
including the use of vacant stories over shops, resisting ‘out of town’ uses to support town
centres and producing town centre masterplans to identify key areas for improvement, and
respondents were encouraged to add their own views. Two thirds of respondents agreed
with the suggested policy areas but additional comments included:










Different responses are needed for each town centre. These should be produced
in consultation with the local community and neighbourhood plans.
Out of town retailing should be resisted and, where it is allowed, should have
similar conditions to town centres e.g. parking charges and be accessible to
pedestrians and cyclists
Make centres pedestrian and public transport friendly. Make car parking cheap or
free.
Offer a town wide online presence so small retailers can offer goods online and
share costs.
Need to promote local foods and goods, encourage farm shops but not as
competition to the High Street shops (or there could be a co-op shop for local
farmers to sell through).
Redevelop out of town shopping areas as housing (especially sheltered housing)
Accept out of town retailing and improve access to it and the shopper experience.
Encourage linked trips to town centres.
Make town centres social spaces and focus on the shopper experience

4

Relationship to Neighbourhood Plans

4.1

Neighbourhood Plans contain limited policies relating to town centres. Only the towns of
Budleigh Salterton, Exmouth, Sidmouth and Ottery St Mary (written jointly with West Hill)
have ‘made’ Plans, although Colyton’s Plan is at an advanced stage. Generally the Plans
are keen to retain a variety of shops and services, meeting resident’s everyday needs, and
wish to resist the loss of existing shops to other uses. Concern has regularly been
expressed that shops are being/may be lost to housing through permitted development.

4.2

Local communities will be consulted on any policy proposals and, if a masterplan is
proposed for any of the towns, community involvement will be intrinsic to its success.

5

Policy Options

5.1

The Sustainability Appraisal process is intended to ensure that, through plan-making,
social, environmental and economic considerations are taken into account in a systematic
manner. This means that a range of reasonable policy options will be assessed or ‘tested’
to ensure that the approach taken in the new Local Plan is appropriate and that the
reasons for discounting reasonable alternatives are justified and explained.

page 72

5.2

At this stage in the process it is not appropriate to recommend a particular policy approach
to town centres, however changes to permitted development rights have significantly
reduced the extent of control that we can exert through the local plan on town centre
issues. In light of this there are considered to be 3 broad elements that could be included
within the town centre policies. Members are asked to consider these different approaches
and give their thoughts on which they would like to see included in a draft plan:


Town Centre First Element– These are policies that define town centres in the
district and then seek to ensure that they are the focus for town centre uses by
seeking to impose restrictive policies on these uses in locations that are outside of
town centres. Such an approach would require a sequential test to be complied
with where such uses are to be permitted outside of a town centre to ensure that it
has first been demonstrated that such uses cannot be accommodated within or
closer to the town centre. An impact assessment would also be required where
they are to be located outside of the town centre to demonstrate that they would
not significantly undermine the vitality and viability of the town centre. This is an
approach adopted in the current local plan and remains part of government policy.
An initial assessment of policy options would suggest that this approach should be
included in a new Local Plan as a minimum. Would Members agree?



Active Frontages Element – This approach would involve including policies in the
plan that seek to retain a core area at the heart of each town centre where policies
seek to retain active frontages such as shops, cafes and restaurants etc. that
attract footfall and ensure that they are vibrant spaces. These are currently termed
“primary retail frontages” in the current local plan, however given the move away
from retail led town centres and the introduction of the new Class E use class it is
likely that these would need to be more focused around an area where none Class
E uses would be restricted to some extent. This would be to ensure levels of
activity are maintained particularly at ground floor level and seek to ensure that
uses such as bars, pubs, takeaways and hotels that are outside of Class E and
generate limited day time activity are limited in number and remain focused on the
periphery of the town centres. An alternative approach would be to say that such
uses represent a significant investment in a town centre and should be welcomed
even in the core of the town and perhaps the night time activity that such uses
generate is just as important as the day time activity and footfall generated by
shops.
Promote and Encourage Element – This approach would potentially add an
additional layer of policy that would include policies that seek to encourage
particular uses and activities that would help to improve the vitality and viability of
our town centres. The future of town centres is seen to be to have more events,
pop up shops and spaces, more leisure uses and experiences that bring people
into town centres and keep them coming back by providing new and different
experiences each time. Many of these may not fall within the control of the
planning authority but Members may still see merit in having policies that seek to
encourage the delivery of such uses and activities. It may in reality be more for an
economic development strategy to promote and deliver these activities given that
many such activities will be permitted development in planning terms.



More evidence gathering is needed to inform future policy choices but Members views on
the above approaches would help to guide officer thinking at this stage and understand
the evidence requirements.
6

Conclusion
page 73

6.1

Town Centres will continue to be essential for local communities but it is likely that their
function will evolve from one of primarily meeting retail needs to fulfilling social and leisure
requirements as well. Evidence supports continuing strong protection of retail space (albeit
that this might be in a contracted area) but additional evidence is required to give an up to
date picture of the health of the town centres.

Financial implications:
There are no specific financial implications which require comment at this stage.
Legal implications:
There are no legal comments other than as set out in the report

page 74

Agenda Item 11
Report to:

Strategic Planning Committee

Date of Meeting 7 September 2021
Document classification: Part A Public Document
Exemption applied: None
Review date for release N/A
Biodiversity policy approaches and biodiversity net gain
Report summary:
The Local Plan will play a key role in ensuring the delivery of biodiversity improvements alongside
new development. This report provides some background as to what approaches we may want to
take in the Local Plan in achieving this aim. It focuses particularly on the concept of biodiversity
net-gain (BNG), and asks members to discuss and consider the potential role of the Council in
delivery of this.
Is the proposed decision in accordance with:

Budget

Yes ☒ No ☐

Policy Framework

Yes ☒ No ☐

Recommendation:
(1) That Strategic Planning Committee note the detail of the report and recommend that
work continue to look at the potential approach of requiring 20% biodiversity netgain (subject to viability testing) and the role that the Council might want to play in
delivery.
(2) That Strategic Planning Committee recommend that a review of existing Council
owned land for their potential suitability to deliver biodiversity net gain be
undertaken.
(3) That Strategic Planning Committee recommend that work continues on producing a
Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) for the publication version of the Local Plan
for late 2022.
Reason for recommendation:
Biodiversity is a key planning issue to be considered in the Local Plan. It is important that
Members are kept informed as to the current direction of travel and be given the opportunity to
provide an early steer on biodiversity matters for the new local plan.
Officer: Ed Freeman, Service Lead – Planning, e-mail - efreeman@eastdevon.gov.uk, Tel: 01395
517519

Portfolio(s) (check which apply):
☐ Climate Action and Emergencies
☐ Coast, Country and Environment

page 75

☐ Council and Corporate Co-ordination
☐ Culture, Tourism, Leisure and Sport
☐ Democracy and Transparency
☐ Economy and Assets
☐ Finance
☒ Strategic Planning
☐ Sustainable Homes and Communities
Equalities impact Low Impact
.
Climate change Low Impact
Risk: Low Risk; as members are being ask to note progress rather than make a decision .
Links to background information UK State of Nature Report 2019 State-of-Nature-2019-UK-fullreport.pdf (nbn.org.uk), UK Environment Bill Environment Bill continues through Parliament GOV.UK (www.gov.uk), Devon State of Nature Report Wildlife - Devon Local Nature Partnership
(devonlnp.org.uk)
Link to Council Plan:
Priorities (check which apply)
☒ Outstanding
☒ Outstanding
☒ Outstanding
☐ Outstanding

Place and Environment
Homes and Communities
Economic Growth, Productivity, and Prosperity
Council and Council Services

Report in full
1

Introduction

1.1

As in previous Plans, it will be important to include a range of local policies on nature
conservation within the revision of the Local Plan. These will in part be guided by the
significant levels of Government policy and guidance on the topic, and any local priorities
we may want to include derived from evidence gathering that is undertaken to support plan
production.

1.2

This paper focuses predominantly on the topic of biodiversity net-gain which will make up
just one area of policy in the Local Plan. This is currently very high up on the national
agenda and it is felt to be of particular importance to warrant member input into our
approach at this point.

2

Issues and Options feedback

2.1

The Local Plan issues and options consultation presented a variety of different potential
policy approaches for enhancing biodiversity. In particular, we posed a specific question
asking where we should place the priority for delivering BNG. The options presented were
to prioritise delivery on-site, secure habitats locally, pay a cash tariff towards a strategic
scheme or a combination of the above.

2.2

We received 530 responses to the question. The most popular option was to utilise a
combination of approaches to secure net gain for biodiversity with 38% respondents in
support. 27% of people thought we should seek to secure habitats locally whereas 15%
page 76

thought we should seek to deliver net-gain on-site. The least popular option was to pay a
cash tariff towards a strategic delivery scheme with just 3% support, although this was
supported by the RSPB who felt it could deliver better gains to biodiversity than ad-hoc
schemes. 5% of people felt that none of options were suitable or proposed alternatives.
3

Background

3.1

East Devon is blessed with an outstanding natural environment which supports a wide
range of species and habitats of international importance. Some of these habitats are
offered European protection due to their uniqueness in supporting rare and threatened
species of flora and fauna, including the Pebblebed Heaths and Exe Estuary.

3.2

Despite this, it is widely accepted that the UK’s biodiversity had been massively depleted by
centuries of habitat loss, management changes and development. The UK state of nature
report undertaken in 20191 identified that since 1970, 41 per cent of species studied have
fallen and 133 species have already been lost.

3.3

These are trends that have been reflected in Devon with the majority of habitats now small
and fragmented and their value is threatened due to a range of issues including invasive
species, disease, lack of appropriate management, pollution, climate change, changes to
funding sources such as agri-environment grants and continued fragmentation due to
development pressure2.

3.4

Clearly, action needs to be taken and in an attempt to buck these trends, there are a
number of biodiversity initiatives being progressed both nationally and locally which will be
highly influential on the direction of travel we take on biodiversity in the Local Plan. These
are covered below.

3.5

The fact that these have yet to fully emerge means that it is challenging for us to fully take
into account at this stage in Local Plan production. In particular, we need to ensure that any
processes for securing BNG we may want to pursue does not conflict with the emerging
legislative requirements to be set by Government. It will be important for us to actively
explore best practice and keep a watching brief on developments over time to inform plan
production.

3.6

In addition, the west end of the District was involved in an early Government pilot scheme
for biodiversity offsetting back in 2014, which tested some of the early principles for
delivering biodiversity offsetting and could be considered the precursor for net-gain.
The Environment Bill

3.7

The Government‘s Environment Bill, which is currently making its way through Parliament,
contains a swathe of proposals to restore habitats, improve water quality and increase
biodiversity. Particularly relevant to delivering biodiversity improvements through planning is
the proposal to mandate a minimum 10% BNG on all development proposals. Further
details, including a consultation on draft secondary legislation setting out how the
Government envisage this being practically achieved across the Country is expected later
this year. The Government aim for the bill to be given royal assent later this year.
Devon Nature Recovery Network

1

UK State of Nature Report, National Biodiversity Network, 2019, State of Nature 2019 - National Biodiversity
Network (nbn.org.uk)
2 Devon State of Nature Report, Devon Local Nature Partnership, 2013, Wildlife - Devon Local Nature Partnership
(devonlnp.org.uk)

page 77

3.8

As part of the wider proposals contained in the Environment Act, the Devon Wildlife Trust
are currently in the process of producing a nature recovery network map for Devon. This
will identify where good wildlife habitat is already, where it should be and how it will be
protected, restored, created and joined together to achieve recovery. A draft of this map is
expected to be completed this summer and it is envisaged that once produced, it will play a
key role in providing a focus for delivery of biodiversity net-gain into particular areas within
the District. The map will also be integral to the development of Local Nature Recovery
Strategies which are proposed in the Environment Act to be developed at a county level.
Environmental Impact Bond

3.9

The Council has recently secured £100k funding to explore the creation of an
Environmental Impact Bond (“The Crystal Clear Clyst Bond”) within the Clyst Valley area,
which would seek to facilitate the conversion of farmland to woodland by ensuring the longterm income for farmers is more attractive than any alternative land use. The grant will be
used to review and blend existing publicly funded grant schemes, including Biodiversity
Credits received through off-site provision of net-gain. It will be important to monitor
progress on the development of the fund and the evidence produced from the grant will no
doubt be useful to support the Local Plan.

4

Biodiversity net-gain

4.1

BNG is an approach to development that leaves biodiversity in a better state than before. It
requires developers to provide an increase in appropriate natural habitat and ecological
features over and above that being affected, in such a way that the current loss of
biodiversity through development will be halted and ecological networks can be restored.

4.2

Undertaking a BNG assessment involves calculating the biodiversity value of a site
(expressed as units) pre- and post-development, and then calculating the percentage
change, using a Biodiversity Metric. The most nationally recognised approach to calculate
the pre-development baseline and the amount of habitat that will need to be provided postdevelopment is the “Biodiversity Metric 3.0” produced by Natural England. This has been
adopted by a number of authorities across the Country and a version of it is likely to be the
Government’s preferred metric when net-gain becomes mandatory. The current thinking at
this point in Local Plan production is that we will require this to be used in East Devon.

4.3

As previously mentioned, through the Environment Bill the Government intend to make a
minimum 10% BNG a mandatory requirement for all development proposals (albeit with a
simplified process for smaller scale proposals). All new habitats will need to be managed
and maintained for a minimum period of 30 years and a net gain plan will need to be
submitted alongside a planning application. Should the bill gain royal assent later this year,
the requirement for net-gain will come into force towards the end of 2023.

5

Level of BNG to be required

5.1

Whilst 10% is the level likely to be mandated by Government, the Local Plan provides the
Council with the opportunity to consider including a policy requiring a higher percentage.

5.2

Evidence from some academic literature suggests that a level of net gain at, or ideally
above, 10% is the minimum necessary to give reasonable confidence in halting
development’s role in biodiversity loss (i.e. no net loss). This is due to sources of
uncertainty such as recording habitats incorrectly, the narrow scope of measurements (due
to the metric being simplified) the risk of habitat degradation before application submission
page 78

(i.e. baseline alteration) and the risk of undervaluation of habitats. It stands to reason that if
members want to be confident that net-gain is truly being delivered, as opposed to just ‘no
net loss’, then they may desire to go beyond 10% as a target.
5.3

It’s worth keeping in mind that the majority of the costs associated with net gain are
incurred to correct for the initial loss of biodiversity through development (i.e. achieving only
‘no net loss’). A 10% net gain could be seen as a requirement to deliver approximately
110% of the total lost biodiversity and so the additional cost of going from 10% to 20% is
relatively minor.

5.4

To put that in some perspective, using the Government estimates for the cost of off-site
BNG delivery, a housing scheme on one hectare of former agricultural land would be
expected to cost a developer in the region of £33,000 to deliver 20% net gain, as opposed
to £30,200 with 10% net gain (assuming that all compensation is delivered off-site).

5.5

Members may wish to note that Lichfield District requires a net gain of 20% on new
development, and experience there to date suggests that developers are able to meet this
requirement and often achieve much greater levels of biodiversity net gain.

5.6

Having said that, it needs to be borne in mind that the proposal for 10% net gain will still be
a substantial uplift beyond current practice, given that the Government estimate only 29%
of residential and 15% of non-residential developments currently achieve BNG. Indeed,
there will no doubt be advantages of a more significant margin of gain but the increased
costs this would lead to need to be considered alongside potential development viability
issues, and the resulting impacts this may have on other priorities that the Council may
have (e.g. delivery of lower levels of affordable housing). Further assessment of the
additional cost of levels of net-gain will need to be explored once we commence viability
work for the local plan.

6

Methods of delivery

6.1

Once the required amount of habitat to be provided has been calculated via a biodiversity
metric, the applicant would then be required to demonstrate that the agreed level of BNG
would be delivered. The following diagram sets out some of the potential methods for
delivery with some additional explanation below:

page 79







Option 1: Compensation on developers own land- This would require the
developer to deliver the required amount of habitat either on-site or off-site on land in
their ownership. This can be secured through planning conditions or a Section 106
agreement.
Option 2: Payment for third party management of third party’s land- The
developer would not buy the land but pay a third-party provider to deliver and
maintain the habitats on their behalf. A number of different companies are already
active in the area which offer this service. This can be secured via a legal
agreement.
Option 3 - Payment for local planning authority to set up compensation
agreements- Involves the developer making a payment to the Local Authority who
would then take on the management responsibilities to meet offset requirements.
The Local Authority could then act in the form of a broker, paying a third party to
manage land in order to meet offset requirements or in some instances could
actively purchase and/or deliver biodiversity improvements on their own land. This
can be secured through a section 106 or planning condition. The role of the Council
is discussed further in paragraphs 7.1 – 7.3.

6.2

The Environment Bill also proposes that a further option will exist in the future to allow for
developers to purchase” statutory biodiversity credits” directly from the Secretary of State,
instead of a requirement to make onsite or offsite biodiversity enhancements. The funds
generated from the purchase of biodiversity credits would be used to fund landscape-scale
habitat enhancements across England. Further details are awaited but it would likely only
be available after on-site and off-site provision has been explored.

6.3

To allow for flexibility in delivery, it would be prudent to allow for a range of approaches to
delivery depending on the location and condition of the site. For example, in many
situations only relatively simple, robust, low-maintenance habitats can be delivered on-site.
Schemes that propose the creation of high distinctiveness habitats such as lowland
meadows will not be appropriate as the land may not be suitable.

6.4

However, the Council may wish to ensure that where possible and effective, habitats are
delivered on-site as a preference. This may help to ensure BNG is distributed across the
District, into areas where habitats may be being most affected. This is an approach adopted
page 80

by other Local Authorities who are already securing net-gain including in Plymouth and
South West Devon, and would also reflect the strong support in the issues and options
consultation for BNG to be delivered either on-site or locally.
7

Potential role of the Council

7.1

Apart from the statutory role the Council will need to play in determining and assessing the
net-gain requirements in planning applications. As discussed in Option 3, the Council has a
number of potential active roles to play in delivering net-gain over the coming years. For
example,





Investigate setting up a paid for brokering service that applicants could utilise to be
put in touch with landowners willing to bring their site forward. This could perhaps sit
within the existing countryside service.
Providing bespoke advice and guidance to developers on how to achieve BNG.
Producing additional guidance on how to deliver BNG once the requirement comes
into force, perhaps through a supplementary planning document.
Exploring the extent to which BNG may be suitable for delivery on Council-owned
sites.

7.2

Members should note that regardless of the role the Council takes, should net-gain become
mandatory it will require additional resources from the local authority in order to conduct its
planning functions, particularly in the determination of planning applications. The
Government has committed to undertaking a full assessment of the cost of additional
burdens for carrying it out. It is understood that an ecologist will shortly be coming on board
with the Council and they will no doubt be integral to the consideration of any potential
active role we may want to take.

7.3

Committee are asked to endorse the option of undertaking a review of council-owned land
for the potential delivery. Whilst any formal commitment for undertaking a review would
need to be taken by Cabinet getting some member feedback on this approach. There may
be some crossover with an existing commitment in the Council’s Climate Change Strategy
to review the green spaces in the existing Green Space Plan to assess whether they are
suitable for wildlife recovery/rewilding.

8

Implications for neighbourhood planning

8.1

The implications for Neighbourhood Planning in general are expected to be minimal,
however, Neighbourhood Plan groups may wish to identify local priorities for off-site
delivery of net-gain through their Plans. If supported by robust evidence, they may also be
able to vary the level of net-gain to be required from development or set different priorities
for its delivery.

9

Habitats Regulations Assessment

9.1

Members should also note that prior to publication of the Local Plan in late 2022, we are
legally required to prepare a habitat regulations assessment, which measures the impacts
of the plan on any European designated Natura 2000 biodiversity sites. In East Devon
these sites include the Exe Estuary Special Protection Area (SPA), The East Devon
Pebblebed Heaths Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and Special Protection Area (SPA)
and the River Axe Special Area of Conservation (SAC).
page 81

9.2

Where impacts, such as increased recreational pressure resulting from the numbers and
locations of homes proposed are identified, the assessment assesses how they can be
mitigated to ensure that these important biodiversity sites are safeguarded.

9.3

In previous Local Plans due to a lack of experience and capacity at the Council, we have
commissioned experienced ecological consultants to undertake this work on our behalf, and
we expect to do the same this time around by going out to tender in the coming months.

9.4

Related to this work is the need for East Devon District Council, alongside Exeter and
Teignbridge Councils to commission a review of the South East Devon European Site
Mitigation Strategy, which provides a strategy to mitigate for the potential in-combination
impacts of new housing development on three European wildlife sites; the Exe Estuary,
Dawlish Warren and Pebblebed Heaths.

Financial implications:
While there are no specific financial issues at this review stage the management of such a scheme
will have an impact on budgets for future years, the size of which will be dependent upon the
agreed methods of delivery. Should suitable council owned sites be available they could
potentially provide an additional income stream.
Legal implications:
There are no legal implications other than as set out in the report

page 82

Agenda Item 12
Report to:

Strategic Planning Committee

Date of Meeting 7 September 2021
Document classification: Part A Public Document
Exemption applied: None
Review date for release N/A
Landscape Protection – Strategic Approach
Report summary:
The current local plan contains a number of protective landscape designations. Some are defined
at a national level and can’t be changed through the local plan process, such as Areas of
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), whilst others are not obligatory and are identified through the
local plan, such as green wedges and coastal preservation areas. Neighbourhood Plans may also
include protective policies and Members may wish to incorporate, or give other recognition to,
some of these into the local plan. As part of the local plan review it is appropriate to review the
locally designated protective landscape policies in light of national planning policy (NPPF) and to
consider whether the designations and the areas to which they apply continue to be appropriate.
Members may consider that additional protection is required. The results of these considerations
will influence the type and extent of landscape protection (in addition to the AONB’s) to be
conferred through the Local Plan.
Is the proposed decision in accordance with:
Budget

Yes ☒ No ☐

Policy Framework

Yes ☒ No ☐

Recommendation:
(1) That Strategic Planning Committee consider the issues raised in this report which
will inform more detailed work on the draft local plan;
(2) That Strategic Planning Committee recommend that the actions set out in paragraph
6.1 be undertaken to progress the work on landscape protection issues for the new
Local Plan.
Reason for recommendation:
It is important to consider whether it is appropriate to continue to protect landscapes, in addition to
the protection conferred by the AONB status, and, if so, the character and extent that the
protective designations should take.
Officer: Claire Rodway, Senior Planning Officer e-mail - crodway@eastdevon.gov.uk, Tel: 01395
517543
Portfolio(s) (check which apply):
☐ Climate Action and Emergencies
☒ Coast, Country and Environment
page 83

☐ Council and Corporate Co-ordination
☐ Culture, Tourism, Leisure and Sport
☐ Democracy and Transparency
☐ Economy and Assets
☐ Finance
☒ Strategic Planning
☐ Sustainable Homes and Communities
Equalities impact Low Impact
.
Climate change Medium Impact
Risk: Medium Risk; The approach to protecting landscapes is a key consideration in the local plan and
any perceived harm to the high quality environment is likely to result in significant level of representation,
particularly if existing protective policies are deleted. It will also set the context for many planning
applications over the lifetime of the plan.

Links to background information National Planning Policy Framework: ,
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/3722704/cvrp-masterplan.pdf
Link to Council Plan:
Priorities (check which apply)
☒ Outstanding Place and Environment
☒ Outstanding Homes and Communities
☒ Outstanding Economic Growth, Productivity, and Prosperity
☐ Outstanding Council and Council Services

Report in full
1

Introduction

1.1

The high quality natural environment is one of the main reasons that people choose to live
in, work in and visit East Devon. Landscape is a fundamental part of the aesthetic appeal of
the natural environment and Members are asked to consider how best it can be protected in
the new Local Plan. There will be overlaps between landscape matters and other elements
of the natural environment, for example biodiversity, coastal change, soil and geology, and
these will be discussed in other topic papers. All of the natural environment policies will
need to support the key objective suggested in the recent Issues and Options report, “To
protect and enhance our outstanding natural environment and support an increase in
biodiversity”.

2

Status of Existing Designations

2.1

The current Local Plan contains a number of designations (and associated policies) that
directly relate to the landscape element of the natural environment. These include national
designations (which the new plan does not have the ability to change, although there is a
small degree of flexibility in the way we word related policies) and East-Devon specific
designations identified through the local plan. The new Local Plan could also include areas
identified in neighbourhood plans (this option is discussed later in the report). In addition to
areas designated for their landscape and scenic value, there are numerous other significant
environmental designations (for example, Sites of Special Scientific Interest, County Wildlife
Sites, ancient woodlands) which will contribute positively to the landscape but are primarily
page 84

recognised for their wildlife or habitat importance and so are not covered in this paper. The
designations in the current Local Plan which are of landscape significance, including maps
(not to scale), are:
2.2

Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB)- The NPPF (paras 176 and 177) states
that “Great weight should be given to conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic
beauty in National Parks, the Broads and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty which have
the highest status of protection in relation to these issues. The conservation and
enhancement of wildlife and cultural heritage are also important considerations in these
areas, and should be given great weight in National Parks and the Broads 59 . The scale
and extent of development within all these designated areas should be limited, while
development within their setting should be sensitively located and designed to avoid or
minimise adverse impacts on the designated areas.
When considering applications for development within National Parks, the Broads and
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, permission should be refused for major development
60 other than in exceptional circumstances, and where it can be demonstrated that the
development is in the public interest. Consideration of such applications should include an
assessment of:
(a) the need for the development, including in terms of any national considerations, and the
impact of permitting it, or refusing it, upon the local economy;
(b) the cost of, and scope for, developing outside the designated area, or meeting the need
for it in some other way; and
(c) any detrimental effect on the environment, the landscape and recreational opportunities,
and the extent to which that could be moderated..”
In East Devon AONB’s account for around two thirds of the District and cover a number of
villages as well as the small town of Budleigh Salterton. There are two AONBs in East
Devon, the East Devon AONB occupies much of the south of the District, and the
Blackdown Hills AONB (which although mostly in East Devon also extends into
neighbouring mid Devon and Somerset) covering much of the north of the District. It should
be noted that a very tiny part of the Dorset AONB extends into the extreme east of the
District. These areas have the highest level of landscape protection in England, equal to
that of National Parks and are designated by the Secretary of State, so the boundaries and
statutory protection cannot be amended through the local plan process. Having said that,
provided it accords with the NPPF, the Local Plan is able to be flexible in the way that
policies relating to the AONB are worded and can choose to accommodate a limited
amount of new development within them if desired.

page 85

2.3

Jurassic Coast World Heritage Site (WHS)- This covers the majority of the coast line of
East Devon and is inscribed by UNESCO as being of international importance. Whilst the
WHS was chosen for the outstanding value of its rocks, fossils and landforms the wider
setting of the cliffs contribute significantly to the landscape (which is, itself, part of the
landform). The WHS is currently protected by Local plan Strategy 44- the undeveloped
coast and coastal preservation area.

2.4

Coastal Preservation Area (CPA)- The NPPF (para. 174 c) requires local authorities to
“maintain the character of the undeveloped coast, while improving public access to it where
appropriate”. The current Local Plan contains Strategy 44 which protects the character of
the undeveloped coast (including the WHS) and designates a Coastal Preservation Area.
This local designation is based on the (now obsolete) Devon Structure Plan Coastal
Protection Area, updated through a detailed character assessment of undeveloped coast in
terms of openness and views to and from the sea carried out in 2012 (based on guidance
from the Devon Landscape Policy Group).

page 86

2.5

Green Wedge- This Local Plan designation is primarily concerned with protecting the
individual character of closely located settlements, protecting the open character of land
between them, preventing coalescence and providing recreational and biodiversity
opportunities. 6 areas are covered by green wedges in the current Local Plan (some of
these consist of several closely grouped pieces of land). There is no requirement in the
NPPF for such designations, however they are widely used in local plans across England
(especially in rural areas where significant areas of urban development is proposed) and
help provide clarity in decision making. In East Devon local communities have been very
supportive of them and incorporated them into neighbourhood plan policy.

2.6

Land of Local Amenity Importance (LLAI)- This Local Plan designation recognises the
particular visual (and other) amenity importance of 14 sites within 4 of the main towns and
restricts development that is not for a community purpose or that would undermine the open
character of the area. The sites are deemed to be locally significant, with opportunities of
enhancement to provide multiple benefits, including improved water quality, access,
biodiversity, recreational, health and educational benefits.
The National Planning Policy Framework (para 101) supports ‘Local Green Space’ and
states that
“the designation of land as Local Green Space through local and neighbourhood plans
allows communities to identify and protect green areas of particular importance to them.
Designating land as Local Green Space should be consistent with the local planning of
sustainable development and complement investment in sufficient homes, jobs and other
page 87

essential services. Local Green Spaces should only be designated when a plan is prepared
or updated, and be capable of enduring beyond the end of the plan period.
The Local Green Space designation should only be used where the green space is:
(a) in reasonably close proximity to the community it serves;
(b) demonstrably special to a local community and holds a particular local significance, for
example because of its beauty, historic significance, recreational value (including as a
playing field), tranquillity or richness of its wildlife; and
(c) local in character and is not an extensive tract of land.”
The 14 sites in question were described as local green spaces when the current Local Plan
was produced but any future review of these sites would need to give full consideration to
the NPPF criteria. In two of the towns, individual LLAI’s- the Byes at Sidmouth and the
Exmouth Valley Parks- are also covered by specific policies which further restrict
development within them in light of their particular characteristics.
Many neighbourhood plans have (see Appendix 1), or will also be designating, Local Green
Space and there is potential for confusion between what is meant by LLAI and LGS. There
is also a potential issue whereby some neighbourhood plans contain numerous local green
spaces, some don’t contain such a policy and some areas are not covered by a
neighbourhood plan. Given this inconsistency, and a lack of resources, it is not considered
to be appropriate to attempt to comprehensively identify all individual green spaces
throughout the District and an overarching policy setting criteria to apply to LGS is likely to
be more appropriate.

page 88

page 89

2.7

Clyst Valley Regional Park- Currently almost as large as Exeter and comprising open
space and recreational routes, the Clyst Valley Regional Park enables and supports major
development in the West End of East Devon by compensating for biodiversity impacts and
providing alternative green space that can help reduce recreational pressure on protected
sites (primarily the pebblebed heaths and Exe estuary). Land comprising the CVRP is
protected as part of the green infrastructure strategy in the current local plan. Members
recently approved the Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan cvrp-masterplan.pdf
(eastdevon.gov.uk) and a Clyst Valley landscape appraisal is being commissioned. Given
how comprehensive this work will be, it is not envisaged that further detailed evidence will
be required to support the local plan in this respect.

page 90

3

Consultation responses and need for additional designations

3.1

Existing evidence regarding the appropriateness of current designations is limited.
Technical evidence relating to the current local plan remains pertinent (although it will need
to be reviewed in light of any development that has taken place). Landscape character has
been assessed and categorised in several appraisal documents but these are based on
existing designations and their management, and do not generally recommend a different
level or type of protection. There have been no significant appeal decisions which suggest
that current designations are excessive or inappropriate. There has been one recent public
consultation, the findings of which are set out below.

3.2

The recent Issues and Options consultation East Devon Local Plan (arcgis.com) sought
views on the level of development that might take place within protected landscapes.
Question 20 discussed the importance of protecting important landscapes and the potential
limitations this might impose on the level and location of development. Almost half of
respondents felt that development to meet local needs should be allowed within protected
landscapes, with around a third considering that any development should be significantly
restricted. Only a small number of respondents – 7% supported greater levels of
page 91

development and 5% supported none of the proposed options. A number of people
supporting local needs development felt that small scale development could enhance
villages and offer opportunities for local self-builders. Many favouring tight restrictions felt
that designated areas were protected for a reason and that large scale growth should be
directed to less sensitive areas. Those supporting additional growth repeatedly commented
that protected areas could sustain more development if done well and it might rebalance
large scale growth in the west end of the district and protect services and facilities.
A variety of other comments were received under the ‘none of the above or alternative’
option and some of these are listed below:
Neighbourhood Plans need to be taken into account
We need to maintain green spaces in and around villages
East Devon should look into national park designation
Brownfield sites should be considered before greenfield
AONB boundaries are often arbitrarily drawn and there should be a more nuanced test as
to whether development is appropriate.







3.3

Paragraph 10.8 of the Issues and Options report identifies 10 additional themes for the
natural environment that may benefit from policies in the local plan. The themes address a
range of wider natural environment matters, so the key landscape themes related to the
recommendations in this report are bolded for Members information. In the Local Plan there
will be many cross-cutting themes and matters such as biodiversity, nature recovery areas,
archaeology, habitat mitigation that will be intrinsically linked with landscape:
1.

Support designation of open spaces (for example green wedges) between
settlements and local landscape protection areas.
2.
Policies in the plan for wildlife friendly spaces that respond to the impacts of a
changing climate.
3.
Potential for expansion of the Clyst Valley Regional Park.
4.
Placing greater emphasis on landscape character assessment and evaluation
of landscape impacts when determining planning applications. This may
require us to develop new designations for some areas or define zones of high,
medium and low sensitivity.
5.
Offer increased protection from development of land that may have some biodiversity
importance including lower grade agricultural land and previously developed land.
6.
Set minimum standards for the amount and quality of green space in development
sites.
7.
Encourage new and existing green spaces to be more wild and nature friendly and
less manicured and carefully managed.
8.
Extend the ‘Local Green Space’ designations in many of the Neighbourhood
Plans to cover all of the towns and villages in the District.
9.
With increasing coastal erosion we will need to plan for areas that are potentially
going to be lost to the sea. These are called costal change management areas and
in them we will need to consider what types of development may be acceptable
and also whether and where we need to relocate existing uses.
10. Look more closely at controls over large scale farm buildings and the adverse
landscape impacts they can have.
3.4 Most respondents (69%) felt that the additional objectives were appropriate, however a
small number ticked ‘no’ and a wide range of suggestions for additional natural environment
objectives were received. The comments of most relevance to landscape matters include:



Need a linked network of open spaces to act as wildlife and landscape corridors
‘Wild’ areas are needed across the District
page 92














Should incorporate wildlife corridors between wild areas including a green bridge over
major roads like the A30.
Clyst Valley Regional Park will be critical achieving biodiversity objectives/ should be
expanded around Cranbrook
Green wedge policy needs to be reviewed and made more robust.
Create more valley parks and nature reserves and deliver benefits in those areas.
Local Plan needs to take a key role in designating and protecting biodiversity areas.
A comprehensive heritage, landscape and design strategy is needed to ensure all new
development is appropriate
AONB legislation says they should be places of rich, diverse and abundant wildlife, that
nature recovery is central to conservation and enhancement of natural beauty and
committing to individual Nature Recovery Plans for each AONB and a timetable of
actions to enhance wildlife within and outside of protected sites. The Local Plan
develops policies with each AONB that better facilitate the successful delivery of these
outcomes.
Large scale farm buildings linked to agricultural intensification should be strictly
controlled
Landscape character assessments should be required for all non-householder
development in the countryside
Countryside outside AONB’s should be assessed and protected if it is worthy
AONB’s should not be the only landscape protection. There is lots of high quality
landscape/countryside outside the AONB’s and this is under extra pressure because the
AONB’s are sacrosanct

3.5

There is concern that some high quality landscape, outside the AONB’s, is not recognised
or given adequate protection. This may be because such areas are small, or locally
important, or because there is a lack of evidence justifying their protection. This is an issue
that some Neighbourhood Plans have attempted to address at a very local level, through
protecting particular views, but this is not a feasible approach across the whole District.

3.6

Members may recall that the old Devon Structure Plan contained Areas of Great Landscape
Value (see map below), designated for their high landscape quality with strong distinctive
characteristics which made them particularly sensitive to development. These sat outside of
the AONBs. The designation was established under the Town and Country Planning Act
1947 and the East Devon AGLV’s were identified by the County Council, through their
strategic level Structure Plan. When this Plan was abolished, the AGLV’s ceased to have
any status as they were not redesignated through the East Devon Local Plan (unlike
Teignbridge, for example, who retained them as a local designation). As a result of this, the
former AGLV’s have come under considerable development pressure, for example from
large scale solar farms on land east of Axminster, and this has eroded the distinctive
character. It is suggested that, subject to resources being available, the former AGLV’s, and
other countryside areas, be assessed by the Landscape Architect to see whether a
protective designation is justified and, if so, what the basis and extent of coverage should
be.

page 93

4

Relationship to Neighbourhood Plans

4.1

Neighbourhood Plans contain a variety of protective local landscape policies and
designations which complement those in the local plan. They range from design policies, for
example ensuring that the local vernacular is respected in AONB development, to
protecting local amenity space and views, to controlling countryside development and
protection of local habitat, trees and hedgebanks. These are among the most strongly
supported policies in the neighbourhood plans.

4.2

In most cases, the neighbourhood plan policies support the strategic landscape
designations but designations tend to be small, local areas for protection- most commonly
Local Green Spaces and important views. It is not practical for the new local plan to attempt
to incorporate and identify all of these local designations, particularly as neighbourhood
plans do not provide District wide coverage and are reviewed to differing timescales. As
noted at section 2.6 above it may be possible to include an overarching local plan policy
which sets criteria for identification of specific areas eg Local Green Spaces, and confers
protection to qualifying areas, but does not map them individually. Once ‘made’ the
neighbourhood plans form part of the overall development plan, so their policies are a
material consideration in determining planning applications, in any case.

4.3

Where neighbourhood plans include landscape designations that are larger and fulfil a more
strategic function- such as the settlement containment policy at Ottery St Mary, akin to the
green wedges elsewhere- they could be incorporated into the local plan but will have to be
assessed as part of the local plan process to ensure that their form and function are directly
comparable.

page 94

5

Reasonable Alternative Options

5.1

The Sustainability Appraisal process is intended to ensure that through plan-making
potential social, environmental and economic considerations are taken into account in a
systematic manner. This means that a range of reasonable policy options will be assessed
or ‘tested’ to ensure that the approach taken in the new Local Plan is appropriate and that
the reasons for discounting reasonable alternatives are justified and explained.

5.2

At this stage in the process it is not appropriate to recommend that Members agree to a
particular policy approach to landscape matters, instead they are asked to agree that
evidence gathering and a review of existing policy boundaries be undertaken to inform
future policy choices. It is premature to recommend the inclusion of additional protective
policies, however consideration can be given as to whether these might be
necessary/justified.

6

Conclusion

6.1

The landscape is very highly valued in East Devon and evidence supports its continued
strong protection, including consideration of potential additional areas to be protected. The
Sustainability Appraisal will set out a range of reasonable alternative policy approaches and
Members will be asked to consider their preferred approach in due course. In the
meantime, in order to inform the new Local Plan, Members are asked to note the following
issues:










that the Coastal Preservation Area boundary be reassessed in light of any new
development or change of use which has taken place since the previous
assessment. The assessment would follow the format used in the previous
assessment
that the Green Wedge boundaries be reassessed in light of any new development or
(proposed) encroachment and any additional, similar areas eg land between Ottery
St Mary and West Hill, be included in the assessment, as the Landscape Architect
considers necessary and appropriate. In addition to considering the ‘settlement
containment’ role that land between urban areas could fulfil, the assessment should
also consider landscape character and the biodiversity contributions that such land
might contribute to eg nature recovery/habitat creation.
that the existing Land of Local Amenity Interest areas are assessed against the local
green space criteria. Consideration could then be given to potentially producing an
overarching, strategic policy which recognises and protects the relevant former
LLAIs as Local Green Space and recognises and protects (but does not list
individually) the LGSs in made neighbourhood plans. This would enable the policy to
also apply to any future LGSs that are designated by neighbourhood plans in
accordance with the NPPF criteria.
that consideration is given to the new Local Plan including a policy requiring and
protecting land required as part of the green infrastructure network and, specifically,
the Clyst Valley Regional Park and that this is informed by the CVRP masterplan and
forthcoming landscape appraisal.
that, subject to resources being available, the former AGLV’s, and other countryside
areas, be assessed by the Landscape Architect to see whether a protective
designation may be justified and, if so, the format it/they could take.

page 95

Financial implications:
There are no specific financial implications which require comment at this stage.
Legal implications:
At the Extraordinary Council Meeting of the 26 July 2021 such decision making of the Council was
delegated to the Chief Executive or relevant Senior Officer in consultation with the meeting having
heard all the debate at the consultative meeting or seen the recording of it. There are no legal
implications other than set out in this report for noting.

page 96

APPENDIX 1- Local Green Space in Neighbourhood Plans
The
name of
the
made NP
(Year)
Bishops
Clyst
(Clyst St
Mary &
Sowton)
(08/03/2
017)

Budleigh
Salterton
(12/10/2
017)

Policy Wording

A list or map of the Local Green Spaces (if the policy contains one)

Policy BiC19 Local Green
Space
Policy BiC19 Local Green
Space The areas listed
below and identified on
Map 9 are designated as
Local Green Spaces
where new development
is ruled out other than in
very special
circumstances: 1. Clyst
Valley FC Ground 2. The
QEII Playing Field 3. Site
adjoining Winslade
House

POLICY NE2: Protection
of Local Green Spaces
Local Green Spaces
allocated in this
document should be
protected. Proposals
for development will be
resisted unless they
are ancillary to the use
of the land as a
Local Green Space. The
Local Green
Spaces allocated in this
document are:
(1) Jubilee Fields, (2) The
Green (Station Rd),
(3) Little Common
(Exmouth Road),
(4) Budleigh Salterton
Community Gardens,
(5) Greenway Gardens,
(6) Frewins Gardens,
(7) Barn Lane Playing
Field,

page 97

(8) Norman Crescent
Playing Area, (9) The
Burial Ground, Dark Lane
and (10) Hospital Garden
Clyst St
George
(10/01/2
019)

Policy No. CSG2 Local
Green Space The areas
listed below and
identified on Map 4 are
designated as Local
Green Spaces and will be
protected from
development due to
their particular local
significance and
community value: A. The
Church Nature Garden B.
The “Green” in Clyst St.
George Proposals for
development on this
land that is not ancillary
to the use of the land for
recreational purposes
will be resisted.
Development proposals
which lead to the loss of,
damage to or adverse
impact on these local
green spaces will not be
supported.

page 98

East
Budleigh
and
Bicton
(20/07/2
017)

Feniton
(11/07/2
018)

Policy N2 – Protection of
Local Green Spaces The
following local green
spaces, as shown on the
Proposals Map, have
been designated in
accordance with
paragraphs 76 and 77 of
the NPPF:- 1. Churchyard
adjacent to All Saints
Church. 2. Green space
adjacent to Church Hall.
3. Recreational ground,
Vicarage Road. 4. Land
adjacent to Salem
Chapel. 5. Green verges
at the entrance to the
village and on both sides
of the B3178 south of
East Budleigh village. 6.
Area to rear of
Middletown Lane. 7.
Public green space,
Brookfield Road. 8. The
Pound. 9. Land adjacent
to the Village Hall.
10.War memorial.
Development within
Local Green Space is
ruled out other than in
very special
circumstances
Policy O1 Development
proposals on or likely to
impact the Local Green
Space sites (see
Appendix 2) will only be
supported where they: i)
maintain or enhance the
existing use and amenity
value of the site; ii)
enhance the access to
and use of the site
where used for
recreational purposes;
and, iii) have no adverse
impact on the landscape,
habitats or biodiversity
of the site or (where
unavoidable)
satisfactorily mitigate
such impact

page 99

Payhem
bury
(13/05/2
019)

POLICY PNP5, LOCAL
GREEN SPACE The
Church Lane Play Area,
indicated in Figure 3, is
designated as Local
Green Space and where
any proposals for
development should be
consistent with national
Green Belt policy

page 100

Sidmout
h
(07/11/2
019)

POLICY 5 LOCAL GREEN
SPACE DESIGNATION The
following areas are
designated as Local
Green Space as shown
on the Sidmouth LGS
Designation Maps (Maps
13-21) below, where
there will be a general
presumption against all
development that does
not promote the
attributes and use for
which it was designated
except in very special
circumstances. Local
Green Spaces in the Sid
Valley: SIDMOUTH 1.
Cliff Field 2. Connaught
Gardens 3. Fort Field
Cricket ground, pitches
and courts 4. Glen Goyle,
Glen Road 5. Three
Cornered Plot, Putting
Green and Coburg Field
6. Blackmore Park and
Recreation Grounds,
Coronation Gardens,
Rugby Pitch, Bowling &
Putting Greens, Tennis
Courts and Kennaway
House gardens. 7. The
Ham Recreation Ground,
Old Boating Lake Garden
and Hangar Cliffs 8. Alma
Fields 9. The Byes and
Sid Meadow 10. The
Knowle 11. Manstone
Recreation Ground 12.
Byes Lane Playing Fields
Sidford SIDBURY 1.
Millennium Field 2.
Sidbury Cricket Sports
Ground SALCOMBE
REGIS 1. Recreation Field

page 101

page 102

page 103

Ottery St
Mary
and
West
Hill
(11/07/2
018)

Policy NP5: Local Green
Spaces The following
open spaces are
allocated as Local Green
Spaces as shown on the
Neighbourhood Plan
Proposals Map and
Insets in Appendix 1: a)
Ottery St Mary Primary
School Playing Field b)
Land of Canaan Park,
Ottery St Mary c)
Millennium Green,
Ottery St Mary d)
Allotments, Higher
Ridgeway, Ottery StMary
e) Play Park, Butts Road
f) Play area by
school/village hall, West
Hill g) West Hill primary
school playing field h)

page 104

Woodland Trust Wood,
Higher Broad Oak Road,
West Hill i) Elsdon
Wood, West Hill j) Broad
Oak plantation, West Hill
k) Tipton St John Playing
Field l) Tipton St John
Primary School Playing
Field m) Claremont Field,
Ottery St Mary n) Kings
School Playing Field o)
Barton Orchard. Tipton
St John - under
construction Proposals
for new development on
designated Local Green
Spaces will not be
supported unless
ancillary to their existing
recreation or amenity
use and ‘very special
circumstances’ can be
demonstrated.

page 105

Newton
Popplefo
rd
(18/06/2
021)

Policy GS1 – Protection
of Local Green Spaces
The following Local
Green Spaces include
local amenity spaces
identified by EDDC and
are designated in
accordance with
paragraphs 99 and 100
of the NPPF: Amenity
space Category (area in
hectares) 1. St Gregory’s
Church Churchyard and
Cemetery (0.14) 2. Venn
Ottery Green (0.33) 3.
Turner's Close Park and
Play Area (1.04) 4.
Chestnut Way Park
(0.25) 5. Burrow Village
Green (0.10) 6. Back
Lane Recreation Ground
including Sports Pitches,
Cricket Pitch, Tennis
Courts and Children’,
Play Area (2.35) 7.
Alfred’s Gate Children’s
Play Area and
Community Orchard 8.
Badger Close Play Area
(0.03) 9. Green Bank,
High Street (0.03)
10.Shrubbery, Station
Road, opposite Oak Tree
Villas (0.01)
11.Allotments (1.28)
12.St Luke's Church
Churchyard and
Cemetery (0.31) 13.Venn
Ottery Road Cemetery
(0.11) 14.St Gregory the
Great Church
Churchyard (0.08)
15.Webbers Meadow
(2.50) These areas are to
be retained as
undeveloped land which
physically links
important landscape
and/or open areas; the
areas will be protected
for their landscape,
recreational and/or
amenity value, as well as
for benefits to wildlife.
Increased allotment
provision, with improved
access, would be
supported. Proposals for
development of green
spaces will be resisted

page 106

unless they are ancillary
to the use of the land as
a Local Green Space (e.g.
provision of toilets for
green space users, sheds
for allotments)
OTTERTO
N
(18/06/2
021)

Local Green Spaces –
Policy ONP9 The
following local green
spaces have been
assessed as below and
designated in
accordance with
paragraphs 99, 100 and
101 in the NPPF: 1
Village green 2 Church
yard and cemetery 3
Allotment gardens 4
Jubilee playground 5
Stantyway recreation
field They are shown on
the Proposals Maps at
Section 4.4.3 on page 34.
Proposals for
development in a Local
Green Space will be
strongly resisted, unless
all the following apply: •
there are ‘very special
circumstances’
applicable – these will
not exist unless the
potential harm to the
Local Green Space by
reason of
inappropriateness, and
any other harm resulting
from the proposal, is
clearly outweighed by
other considerations4 •
they are ancillary to the
use of the land • they
can demonstrate that
they have no harmful
effects on the character
of the space.

page 107

page 108

page 109

ColytonNot yet
made

Policy No. Coly5 Local
Green Spaces Proposals
for new development on
designated Local Green
Spaces, listed below, will
not be supported unless
ancillary to their existing
recreation or amenity
use, or exceptional
circumstances can be
demonstrated. A. Bridge
House Garden B.
Colyford Play Park C.
Colyton Community
Woodland and Picnic
Site D. Cuthouse
Meadow Play Area E.
Road Green and Play
Area F. St Andrews
Churchyard and St
Andrews Garden G. The
Elms Amenity Area H. St
Michaels Churchyard,
Colyford Any designated
area of local green space
lost due to exceptional
circumstances must be
replaced by equivalent
or better provision, in
terms of quantity and
quality in a suitable
location.

page 110

page 111

